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CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This management discussion and analysis may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of securities laws. Such statements include, but are not
limited to, statements relating to:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our ability to obtain the substantial capital required to fund research and operations;
our plans to obtain partners to assist in the further development of our product candidates;
our expectations with respect to existing and future corporate alliances and licensing transactions with third parties, and the receipt
and timing of any payments to be made by us or to us in respect of such arrangements;
our expectations regarding future financings;
our plans to conduct clinical trials and pre-clinical programs;
the length of clinical trials;
the partnering potential of our products;
our business strategy
our expectations regarding the progress and the successful and timely completion of the various stages of our drug discovery, preclinical and clinical studies and the regulatory approval process;
our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions; and
other statements including words such as “anticipate”, “contemplate”, “continue”, “believe”, “plan”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”,
“will”, “should”, “may”, and other similar expressions.

The forward-looking statements reflect our current views with respect to future events, are subject to risks and uncertainties, and are based upon a
number of estimates and assumptions that, while considered reasonable by us, are inherently subject to significant business, economic, competitive,
political and social uncertainties and contingencies. Many factors could cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different
from any future results, performance, or achievements that may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements, including, among others:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our ability to continue to operate as a going concern;
our ability to obtain the substantial capital required to fund research and operations;
our lack of product revenues and history of operating losses;
our early stage of development, particularly the inherent risks and uncertainties associated with (i) developing new drug candidates
generally, (ii) demonstrating the safety and efficacy of these drug candidates in clinical studies in humans, and (iii) obtaining
regulatory approval to commercialize these drug candidates;
our liability associated with the indemnification of Old Lorus and its directors, officers and employees in respect of the arrangement
described in the financial statements;
our ability to find and enter into agreements with potential partners;
our ability to recruit patients for clinical trials;
the progress of our clinical trials;
our drug candidates require time-consuming and costly preclinical and clinical testing and regulatory approvals before
commercialization;
clinical studies and regulatory approvals of our drug candidates are subject to delays, and may not be completed or granted on
expected timetables, if at all, and such delays may increase our costs and could delay our ability to generate revenue;
the regulatory approval process;
our ability to attract and retain key personnel;
our ability to obtain patent protection and protect our intellectual property rights;
our ability to protect our intellectual property rights and to not infringe on the intellectual property rights of others;
our ability to comply with applicable governmental regulations and standards;
development or commercialization of similar products by our competitors, many of which are more established and have or have
access to greater financial resources than us;
commercialization limitations imposed by intellectual property rights owned or controlled by third parties;
our business is subject to potential product liability and other claims;
our ability to maintain adequate insurance at acceptable costs;
further equity financing may substantially dilute the interests of our shareholders;
changing market conditions; and
other risks detailed from time-to-time in our on-going quarterly filings, annual information forms, annual reports and annual filings
with Canadian securities regulators and the SEC, and those which are discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in management
discussion and analysis for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2010.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should the assumptions set out in the section entitled “Risk Factors”
underlying those forward-looking statements prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those described herein. These forwardlooking statements are made as of the date of this annual information form or, in the case of documents incorporated by reference herein, as
of the date of such documents, and we do not intend, and do not assume any obligation, to update these forward-looking statements, except
as required by law. We cannot assure you that such statements will prove to be accurate as actual results and future events could differ
materially from those anticipated in such statements. Investors are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future
performance and accordingly investors are cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements due to the inherent
uncertainty therein.

1

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Since its inception, Lorus Therapeutics Inc. (“Lorus”, the “Company”, “we”, “us” and similar expressions) has financed its operations
and technology acquisitions primarily from equity and debt financing, proceeds from the exercise of warrants and stock options, and
interest income on funds held for future investment.
We plan to continue our development programs from internal resources as
they are available.
We have not earned substantial revenues from our drug candidates and are therefore considered to be in the development stage.
The continuation of our research and development activities and the commercialization of the targeted therapeutic products are
dependent upon our ability to successfully finance and complete our research and development programs through a combination of
equity financing and payments from strategic partners. We have no current sources of payments from strategic partners.
Management has forecasted that the Company’s current level of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments,
including the $4 million investment describe under subsequent events, will not be sufficient to execute its current planned
expenditures for the next twelve months without further investment. The Company is currently in discussion with several
potential investors to provide additional funding. Management believes that it will complete one or more of these arrangements in
sufficient time to continue to execute its planned expenditures without interruption. However, we cannot assure you that the capital
will be available as necessary to meet these continuing expenditures, or if the capital is available, that it will be on terms acceptable
to the Company. The issuance of common shares by the Company could result in significant dilution in the equity interest of
existing shareholders. The Company is also considering alternatives to delay its research program until financing is available,
amongst other cost savings measures. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain sufficient financing to
meet future operational needs. As a result, there is a significant doubt as to whether the Company will be able to continue as a
going concern and realize its assets and pay its liabilities as they fall due.
The financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern assumption were not appropriate.
If the going concern basis were not appropriate for these financial statements, then adjustments would be necessary in the carrying
value of the assets and liabilities, the reported revenues and expenses and the balance sheet classifications used.
The following management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements
for the year ended May 31, 2010 and the accompanying notes (the "Financial Statements"). The Financial Statements, and all
financial information discussed below, have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”). All amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. All comparative figures presented in these
consolidated financial statements include those of Old Lorus prior to the Arrangement Date (as defined below) and the Company
after the Arrangement Date.
OVERVIEW
Lorus is a life sciences company focused on the discovery, research and development of effective anticancer therapies with a high
safety profile. Lorus has worked to establish a diverse anticancer product pipeline, with products in various stages of development
ranging from pre-clinical to a recently completed Phase II clinical trial. A growing intellectual property portfolio supports our diverse
product pipeline.
We believe that the future of cancer treatment and management lies in drugs that are effective, have minimal side effects, and
therefore improve a patient's quality of life. Many drugs currently approved for the treatment and management of cancer are toxic
with severe side effects, and we therefore believe that a product development plan based on effective and safe drugs could have
broad applications in cancer treatment. Lorus' strategy is to continue the development of our product pipeline using several
therapeutic approaches. Each therapeutic approach is dependent on different technologies, which we believe mitigates the
development risks associated with a single technology platform. We evaluate the merits of each product throughout the clinical trial
process and consider commercial viability as appropriate. The most advanced anticancer drugs in our pipeline, each of which flow
from different platform technologies, are antisense, small molecules and immunotherapeutics.
Our business model is to take our product candidates through pre-clinical testing and into Phase I and Phase II clinical trials. It is
our intention to then partner or co-develop these drug candidates after successful completion of Phase I or II clinical trials. Lorus
will give careful consideration in the selection of partners that can best advance its drug candidates into a pivotal Phase III clinical
trial and, upon successful results, commercialization. Our objective is to receive upfront and milestone payments as well as
royalties from such partnerships, which will support continued development of our other product candidates.
Our success is dependent upon several factors, including, maintaining sufficient levels of funding through public and/or private
financing, establishing the efficacy and safety of our products in clinical trials and securing strategic partnerships.
Plan of Arrangement and Corporate Reorganization
On July 10, 2007 (the “Arrangement Date”), the Company, (or “New Lorus”) completed a plan of arrangement and corporate
reorganization with, among others, 4325231 Canada Inc., formerly Lorus Therapeutics Inc. (“Old Lorus”), 6707157 Canada Inc. and
Pinnacle International Lands, Inc (the “Arrangement”). As a result of the plan of arrangement and reorganization, among other
things, each common share of Old Lorus was exchanged for one common share of the Company and the assets (excluding certain
future tax attributes and related valuation allowance) and liabilities of Old Lorus (including all of the shares of its subsidiaries held by
it) were transferred, directly or indirectly, to the Company and/or its subsidiaries. The Company continued the business of Old Lorus
after the Arrangement Date with the same officers and employees and continued to be governed by the same directors as Old Lorus
prior to the Arrangement Date. Therefore, the Company’s operations have been accounted for on a continuity of interest basis and
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accordingly, the consolidated financial statement information included in this MD&A reflect that of the Company as if it had always
carried on the business formerly carried on by Old Lorus.
Share Consolidation
In accordance the authority granted by shareholders at the Company’s annual and special meeting on November 30, 2009 to permit
it to implement a consolidation of the Company’s outstanding common shares in a ratio of between 1-for-10 and 1-for-50 at any time
prior to November 30, 2010, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a 1-for-30 share consolidation which became effective May
25, 2010. The share consolidation affects all of Lorus’ common shares, stock options and warrants outstanding at the effective time.
Fractional shares were not issued.
Prior to consolidation the Company had approximately 298 million shares outstanding.
Following the share consolidation, Lorus has approximately 9.9 million common shares outstanding. Similarly, prior to
consolidation, the Company had approximately 20.2 million stock options and 36.9 million warrants to purchase common shares
outstanding. Following the share consolidation, the Company had approximately 673 thousand stock options and 1.3 million
warrants to purchase common shares outstanding.
In this MD&A, all references to number of shares, stock options and warrants in the current and past periods unless otherwise
specified, have been adjusted to reflect the impact of the consolidation, All amounts based on the number of shares, stock options
or warrants, such as (earnings) loss per share and weighted average issuance price in the case of stock options have been adjusted
to reflect the impact of the 1 for 30 share consolidation.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Our loss from operations for the year ended May 31, 2010 decreased to $5.7 million ($0.61 per share) compared to $9.3 million ($1.13
per share) during the same period in fiscal 2009. The current year net earnings and other comprehensive earnings of $5.3 million
(earnings of $0.57 per share) are a result of the $11.0 million gain on sale recognized on the extinguishment of our convertible
debentures in June 2009 (described below in the section titled “Gain on repurchase of convertible debentures and transfer of assets”)
as well as the gain on sale of shares related to the Arrangement (as described in the section titled “Gain on sale of share”) of $50
thousand due to a reduction in the indemnification liability (described below). For the year ended May 31, 2009 the Company recorded
a gain on sale of shares of $450 thousand resulting in a net loss and other comprehensive loss for the period of $8.9 million ($1.08 per
share). During the year ended May 31, 2008, the Company realized a gain on the sale of shares related to the Arrangement in the
amount of $6.3 million resulting in net loss and other comprehensive loss for the period of $6.3 million ($0.87 per share).
The decrease in net loss from operations for the year ended May 31, 2010 compared with the prior year is due primarily to lower
research and development costs of $1.2 million resulting from less spending on GLP-toxicity studies as well as an overall reduction in
company spending to conserve cash balances, as well as reduced interest and accretion charges of $653 thousand and $1.6 million
respectively, resulting from the settlement of the convertible debentures described below and lower stock based compensation costs of
$270 thousand as a result of a lower share price in the current year. These reductions were offset by a decrease in interest income
from $270 thousand for the year ended May 31, 2009 to $21 thousand for the year ended May 31, 2010 as a result of lower cash and
investment balances.
We utilized cash of $3.7 million in our operating activities in the year ended May 31, 2010 compared with $7.2 million in the prior
year. The decrease is primarily a result of a reduced loss from operations and increased accounts payable and accrued liabilities
balances in the current year.
At May 31, 2010, we had cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of $914 thousand compared to $5.9 million at May
31, 2009.
Revenue
For the year-ended May 31, 2010, revenue decreased to $131 thousand from $184 thousand in the same period last year and $43
thousand in 2008. This decrease in revenue in the current year is related to the timing of recognition of milestone payments
associated with the license of Virulizin to ZOR Pharmaceuticals. In prior years Lorus received two milestone payments under the
license agreement, one upon signing the agreement and a second upon ZOR achieving a financing milestone. The milestone
revenue has been recognized over the period of a service contract period whereby Lorus agreed to provide consulting services to
ZOR. The milestone revenue was fully recognized by the end of the second quarter of 2010 as the service agreement with ZOR
expired in October 2009.
The increased revenue in 2009 compared with 2008 is primarily related to the recognition of the milestone revenue from ZOR.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses totaled $2.5 million in the year ended May 31, 2010 compared to $3.8 million during the prior
year and $6.3 million in 2008. The decrease in expenditures of $1.2 million during the current year compared to the same period in the
prior year is primarily a result of the cost of toxicity studies for our lead small molecule drug candidate LOR-253 completed in fiscal
2009. No similar costs were incurred in the current year. In addition, we reduced overall, non-critical research and development costs
in response to the current cash position.
The decrease in spending during the year ended May 31, 2009 compared with the prior year is due to the GLP-toxicity studies for both
our LOR-2040 bladder cancer and LOR-253 small molecule programs during the 2008 fiscal year as well as the cost of manufacturing
LOR-2040 further increasing the research and development spending costs in 2008. In 2009, we manufactured LOR-253 drug, our
lead small molecule, the manufacturing cost of which is significantly less than LOR-2040.

3

General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses totaled $3.0 million for the year ended May 31, 2010 compared to $3.0 million in the prior year
and $3.7 million in 2008. While the general and administrative expenses in the current year were consistent with the prior year,
there were significant reductions to personnel, travel, board of directors and general office costs as we work to conserve cash and
reduce our burn rate these savings were offset by financing costs of $569 thousand associated with a financing terminated
subsequent to year end (described below). The decrease in general and administrative costs for 2009 compared to 2008 is the result
of lower personnel, travel, board of directors and general office costs.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation expense, net of forfeitures, totaled $176 thousand for the year ended May 31, 2010 compared with $446
thousand in the prior year and $719 thousand in 2008. The lower stock based compensation for the year ending May 31, 2010 is
due primarily to a lower share price and therefore lower fair value in the current year. The decrease in option expense for the year
ended May 31, 2009 compared with May 31, 2008 is the result of expense associated with a one-time increase in options granted
that vested immediately in order to bring option granting practices in line with industry standards in 2008, no similar transaction
occurred in 2009 or 2010. Also in 2008, the Company recorded an expense of $83 thousand relating to the extension of options to
directors not standing for re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting and Dr. Wright for options granted in his capacity as
President and CEO. A similar extension was made in 2009 for directors not seeking re-election resulting in a $3 thousand additional
expense.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization expenses decreased to $86 thousand in the year ended May 31, 2010 as compared to $189
thousand in the prior year and $317 thousand in 2008. The decrease in depreciation and amortization expense is the result of
reduced capital asset purchases over the past several fiscal years. During 2009, we acquired research and development equipment
that provides us with the ability to do certain testing in house that was previously outsourced.
Interest Expense
Interest expense was $54 thousand compared with $707 thousand for the prior year and $1.0 million in 2008. During the year
ended May 31, 2010 $27 thousand interest expense was paid to the debenture holders (prior to June 22, 2010) with $15 thousand in
common shares and $12 thousand in cash with the remaining $27 thousand in interest expense accrued on the two $1 million, 10%
interest promissory notes (described under ‘transactions with related parties’) advanced during the year. The interest expense in
2009 and 2008 was for non-cash payments related to the interest payable at a rate of prime plus 1% on the $15.0 million convertible
debentures which were repurchased in June 2009. The Company benefited from lower interest rates in 2009 as compared to 2008
due to a reduced prime rate of interest. All interest on the debentures (prior to May 31, 2009) was paid in common shares of the
Company.
Accretion in Carrying Value of Secured Convertible Debentures
Accretion in the carrying value of the Company’s secured convertible debentures was $80 thousand in the year ended May 31, 2010
compared with $1.7 million in the prior year and $1.2 million in 2008. The current year amount of $80 thousand relates to the period
in the current year during which the convertible debentures were outstanding, June 1, 2009 to June 19, 2009. Accretion charges
arise as under GAAP the Company has allocated the proceeds from each tranche of the debentures to the debt and equity instruments
issued on a relative fair value basis resulting in the $15.0 million debentures having an initial cumulative carrying value of $9.8 million
as of their dates of issuance. Each reporting period, the Company was required to accrete the carrying value of the convertible
debentures such that at maturity on October 6, 2009, the carrying value of the debentures would have been the face value of $15.0
million. The increase in expense year ended May 31, 2009 compared with the prior year is due to the increasing principal balance
to which the implicit interest is applied in determining the accretion amount.
Interest Income
Interest income totaled $21 thousand in the year ended May 31, 2010 compared to $270 thousand in the prior year and $542
thousand in 2008. The decrease in interest income during the current year is due to significantly lower average cash and
marketable securities balances throughout the year and lower interest rates available on investments in comparison with the prior
years.
Loss from operations for the period
For the reasons discussed above, our loss from operations for the year ended May 31, 2010 decreased to $5.7 million ($0.61 per
share) compared to $9.3 million ($1.13 per share) in the prior year and $12.6 million ($1.74 per share) in 2008. During the current year
the Company recognized a $11.0 million gain on sale on the extinguishment of its convertible debentures in June 2009 and a gain of
$50 thousand related to a reduction in the indemnification liability. These gains resulted in net earnings and other comprehensive
earnings of $5.3 million (earnings $0.57 per share) for the year ended May 31, 2010. During the year ended May 31, 2009 the
Company recorded a gain on sale of shares related to the Arrangement of $450 thousand which resulted in a net loss and other
comprehensive loss of $8.9 million ($1.08 per share). During the year ended May 31, 2008, the Company realized a gain related to the
Arrangement in the amount of $6.3 million resulting in a net loss and other comprehensive loss for the period of $6.3 million ($0.87 per
share).
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Gain on repurchase of convertible debentures and transfer of assets
The terms of the secured convertible debentures are described in note 13 to the Company's annual financial statements for the period
ended May 31, 2010. The Company repurchased these debentures, which were originally due on October 6, 2009, on June 19, 2009.
Under the agreement, Lorus repurchased all of the convertible debentures from The Erin Mills Investment Corporation (“TEMIC “) for
consideration that included a cash payment on close of the transaction of $3.3 million, the assignment of the rights under the license
agreement with ZOR Pharmaceuticals Inc, LLC (“ZOR”), certain intellectual property associated with Virulizin and all of Lorus' shares in
its wholly owned subsidiary, Pharma Immune, which held an equity interest in ZOR (the "Consideration"). Under the agreement, Lorus
is entitled to 50% of any royalties received under the ZOR license agreement and 50% of the value of any transaction completed in
territories not covered by the ZOR license agreement. Lorus also retains a perpetual royalty free license for the animal use of Virulizin.
TEMIC will be fully responsible for all clinical and regulatory costs associated with the commercialization of Virulizin in territories not
covered by the ZOR license agreement. Lorus will assist TEMIC with certain agreed upon services.
For receipt of the Consideration, TEMIC released all security interest in the assets of Lorus.
As a result of the transaction, the Company recognized a gain on the repurchase of the debentures of $11.0 million reflecting the
difference between the fair value of the debentures at the repurchase date, net of transaction costs of approximately $221 thousand,
and the cash payment amount of $3.3 million. In addition, as a result of extinguishing the debentures in the amount of $3.8 million, the
equity portion of the debentures, was transferred to contributed surplus. The gain on repurchase of the debentures does not result in
income taxes payable as the Company has sufficient capital loss and non-capital loss carryforwards to shelter these gains. Capital loss
and non-capital loss carryforwards, and the associated valuation allowance have been reduced accordingly.
Gain on sale of shares
As a result of the Arrangement described above, the Company recognized a gain on the sale of the shares of Old Lorus to the
investor of approximately $6.3 million for the year ended May 31, 2008 and a gain on sale in 2009 of $450 thousand which
represents the $600 thousand released from escrow less $150 thousand accrued as management’s estimate of the fair value of the
liability associated with the indemnification described below. This liability was reduced to $100 thousand in the current year
resulting in a gain on sale of $50 thousand in the year ended May 31, 2010. The reduction in liability is the result of the passage of
time and related reduction in risk associated with claims under the liability. This liability is included on the balance sheet in Accrued
Liabilities as at May 31, 2010.
Under the Arrangement, New Lorus and its subsidiaries have agreed to indemnify Old Lorus and its directors, officers and
employees from and against all damages, losses, expenses (including fines and penalties), other third party costs and legal
expenses, to which any of them may be subject arising out of any matter occurring (i) prior to, at or after the effective time of the
Arrangement (“Effective Time”) and directly or indirectly relating to any of the assets of Old Lorus transferred to New Lorus pursuant
to the Arrangement (including losses for income, sales, excise and other taxes arising in connection with the transfer of any such
asset) or conduct of the business prior to the Effective Time; (ii) prior to, at or after the Effective Time as a result of any and all
interests, rights, liabilities and other matters relating to the assets transferred by Old Lorus to New Lorus pursuant to the
Arrangement; and (iii) prior to or at the Effective Time and directly or indirectly relating to, with certain exceptions, any of the
activities of Old Lorus or the Arrangement.
There have been no claims under this indemnification to date.
Terminated US financing
In April 2010, the Company filed a Registration Statement on Form F-1 (the “Registration Statement”) with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) for an offering of up to US$17.5 million of units in the United States.
In August 2010, subsequent to year end, the Company announced that due to unfavourable market conditions the F1 would be
withdrawn and the public financing would not proceed.
The Company incurred fees of approximately $569 thousand related to this filing which have been included in general and
administrative expenses for the year ended May 31, 2010 and an additional $200 thousand in fees incurred subsequent to year end
which will be paid in the year ended May 31, 2011.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent to year end, due to unfavourable market conditions, the Company withdrew a previously announced equity issue, and is
proposing a shareholder rights issue with a financing commitment for an investment of $4 million by Herbert Abramson, one of
Lorus’ directors by way of standby purchase arrangements for the proposed rights offering, such that that the minimum gross
proceeds of the proposed rights offering are $4 million. The Company expects the rights offering to be complete by October 31st,
2010. Mr. Abramson is also providing the Company with interim financing by way of three $500,000 monthly loans, the first of which
was advanced on August 11, 2010, are unsecured, have a six month term (or the earlier of the closing of the rights issue) and bear
interest at the annual rate of 10%. In addition the loan due in October 2010 has been extended for an additional three months.
REGULATORY MATTERS
On October 31, 2008, Lorus voluntarily delisted its common shares from trading on the NYSE Alternext US LLC (formerly the
American Stock Exchange or AMEX).
In April 2010, the Company listed its shares on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board under the symbol LRUSF.
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SELECTED ANNUAL FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected consolidated financial data have been derived from, and should be read in conjunction with, the
accompanying audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended May 31, 2010 which are prepared in accordance with
Canadian GAAP.
Consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss)
Years Ended May 31
(amounts in Canadian 000's except for per common share data)
REVENUE

2010
131

$

2009
184

$

$

2008
43

EXPENSES
Cost of sales

—

—

Research and development

2,517

3,757

6,260

General and administrative

2,964

2,958

3,715

Stock-based compensation

176

446

719

86

189

317

5,743

7,350

11,013

54

707

1,029

80
(21)

1,707
(270)

1,176
(542)

Loss from operations for the period

(5,725)

(9,310)

(12,633)

Gain on repurchase of convertible debentures and transfer of assets

11,006

—

—

50

450

6,299

Net earnings (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss)

5,331

(8,860)

(6,334)

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share

$ 0.57

($1.08)

($0.87)

Basic earnings (loss) per share

9,364

8,236

7,169

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

9,379

8,236

7,169

Depreciation and amortization
Operating expenses
Interest expense
Accretion in carrying value of secured convertible debentures
Interest income

Gain on sale of shares

2

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding used in the calculation of:

Total Assets

$

2,303

Total Long-term liabilities

$

—

$
$

7,527

$

11,607

—

$

12,742

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
The selected financial information provided below is derived from the Company’s unaudited quarterly financial statements for each of
the last eight quarters.
Revenue recognized over the past eight quarters is primarily related to milestone payments received from ZOR pharmaceuticals for the
license of Virulizin. Lorus received two milestone payments under the license agreement, one upon signing the agreement and a
second upon ZOR achieving a financing milestone. The milestone revenue was recognized over the period of a service contract
period whereby Lorus agreed to provide consulting services to ZOR. The milestone revenue was fully recognized by the end of the
second quarter of 2010 as the service agreement with ZOR expired in October 2009.
Research and development expenditures have been consistent over the past eight quarters with increased activity in the quarters
ended February 28, 2009 and August 31, 2008. The increase in August 31, 2008 was a result of increased activity related to the
LOR-2040 bladder cancer studies and LOR-253 GLP toxicity costs which were predominantly wrapped up in this quarter. Increased
research and development spending in the quarter ended February 28, 2009 was due to the manufacture of LOR-253 drug.
General and administrative expenses have trended lower for the past year quarter over quarter due to reduced headcount, a small
board of directors (and related costs) as well as an overall reduction in spending to conserve cash balances. The increase in
general and administrative costs for the quarter ended May 31, 2010 was due to the write off of $569K in costs associated with a
terminated financing initiative.
The net earnings shown in the quarter ended August 31, 2009 is related to the gain on settlement of the convertible debentures
described above.
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Cash used in operating activities was significantly lower in the quarters ended May 31, 2010, November 30, 2009 and August 31,
2009 due to increased accounts payables and accrued liabilities balances.
(Amounts in 000’s except for per
common share data)
Revenue
Research and development
(1)
expense
General and administrative
expense(1)
Net earnings (loss)
Basic and diluted
net (loss) profit per share
Cash used in operating activities

May 31,
2010
$― $

Feb 28,
2010
3

Nov 30,
2009
$

79 $

Aug 31,
2009
49 $

May 31,
2009
78

Feb 28, Nov. 30,
2009
2008
$

64

$

$

741

3

601

718

658

540

701

1,173

515
(1,343)

743
(1,266)

533
9,760

516

775

873

794

(1,820)

(1,895)

(2,469)

(2,284)

(2,212)

$ (0.18) $

(0.14)

$

(0.14) $

(0.22)

$ (0.29)

$

$ (271) $ (1,812)

$

(651) $

(987) $ (1,394)

$ (1,789)

$ (2,080)

1.14 $

1,090

39

Aug. 31,
2008

(0.27)

1,225

$

(0.29)

$ (1,950)

(1)

Prior quarter amounts have been reclassified to conform to the financial statement presentation subsequent to that date.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to:
• Maintain its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns to shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders;
• Maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital at acceptable risk;
• Ensure sufficient cash resources to fund its research and development activity, to pursue partnership and collaboration
opportunities and to maintain ongoing operations.
At May 31, 2010, the capital structure of the Company consisted of equity comprised of share capital, warrants, stock options,
contributed surplus and deficit. The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of economic conditions.
The Company, upon approval from its Board of Directors, will balance its overall capital structure through new share issuances,
acquiring or disposing of assets, adjusting the amount of cash and short-term investments balances or by undertaking other activities
as deemed appropriate under the specific circumstances. The Company settled its secured convertible debentures and extinguished its
liability in the amount of $15.0 million for consideration consisting of cash and other assets in June 2009. The Company expects that its
current capital resources will not be sufficient to carry out its research and development plans and operations for the next twelve
months without further investment. (See “Liquidity and Capital Resources”)
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and the Company’s overall strategy with respect to capital risk
management remains unchanged from the year ended May 31, 2009.
Loan
In April 2010, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a company related to a member of its Board of Directors to borrow $1
million. The loan amount, which was received on April 14, 2010, is unsecured, evidenced by a promissory note and bears interest at
the annual rate of 10%. The principal and interest amount are due in October 2010. The funds are being used for general working
capital purposes.
In October 2009, the Company entered into a loan agreement with the same member of our Board of Directors to borrow $1 million.
The loan amount, which was received on October 6, 2009, was unsecured, evidenced by a promissory note and bears interest at the
annual rate of 10%. The principal and interest were due in six months. The principal amount of $1.0 million was applied to subscribe for
Units as part of the November 27, 2009 private placement.
Private placement
On November 27, 2009, pursuant to a private placement, the Company issued 1.366 million common shares and 683 thousand
common share purchase warrants in exchange for cash consideration of $2.5 million. This amount includes the principal amount of $1.0
million originally received by way of a loan from a director on October 6, 2009 which was applied to subscribe for Units as part of the
private placement. In addition, the Company issued 72 thousand brokers’ warrants to purchase an equivalent number of common
shares at $2.40 until May 27, 2011. The total costs associated with the transaction were approximately $250 thousand which included
the $77 thousand which represented the fair value of the brokers’ warrants. The Company has allocated the net proceeds of the private
placement to the common shares and the common share purchase warrants based on their relative fair values. Based on relative fair
values, $1.7 million of the net proceeds was allocated to the common shares and $545 thousand to the common share purchase
warrants.
Rights Offering
On June 25, 2008, the Company filed a short-form prospectus for a rights offering to its shareholders.
Under the rights offering, holders of the Company's common shares as of July 9, 2008 (the "Record Date") received one right for each
common share held as of the Record Date. Each four rights entitled the holder thereof to purchase a unit of Lorus ("Unit"). Each Unit
consists of one common share of Lorus at $3.90 and a one-half common share purchase warrant to purchase additional common
shares of Lorus at $4.53 per common share until August 7, 2010.
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Pursuant to the rights offering the Company issued 951 thousand common shares and 571 thousand common share purchase warrants
in exchange for cash consideration of $3.7 million. The total costs associated with the transaction were $500 thousand. The Company
allocated the net proceeds of $3.2 million received from the issuance of the units to the common shares and the common share
purchase warrants based on their relative fair values. The fair value of the common share purchase warrants has been determined
based on an option pricing model. The allocation based on relative fair values resulted in the allocation of $2.8 million to the common
shares and $417 thousand to the common share purchase warrants.
Cash Position
At May 31, 2010, Lorus had cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments totaling $914 thousand compared to $5.9 million at
May 31, 2009. The Company invests in highly rated and liquid debt instruments. Investment decisions are made in accordance with an
established investment policy administered by senior management and overseen by the board of directors. Working capital
(representing primarily cash, cash equivalents, short term investments and other current assets less current liabilities) at May 31, 2010
was a deficiency of $1.3 million as compared to a deficiency of $9.2 million at May 31, 2009 (which included the $15 million convertible
debentures)).
We do not expect to generate positive cash flow from operations in the next several years due to additional research and
development costs, including costs related to drug discovery, preclinical testing, clinical trials, manufacturing costs and operating
expenses associated with supporting these activities. Negative cash flow will continue until such time, if ever, that we receive
regulatory approval to commercialize any of our products under development and revenue from any such products exceeds
expenses.
If we are able to secure additional financing, we intend to use these resources to fund our existing drug development programs and
develop new programs from our portfolio of preclinical research technologies. The amounts actually expended for research and drug
development activities and the timing of such expenditures will depend on many factors, including the ability of the Company to raise
additional capital, the progress of the Company's research and drug development programs, the results of preclinical and clinical
trials, the timing of regulatory submissions and approvals, the impact of any internally developed, licensed or acquired technologies,
our ability to find suitable partnership agreements to assist financially with future development, the impact from technological
advances, determinations as to the commercial potential of the Company's compounds and the timing and development status of
competitive products.
As discussed above, management has forecasted that the Company’s current level of cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments will not be sufficient to execute its current planned expenditures for the next twelve months without further investment.
Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Financing
At May 31, 2010, we had contractual obligations requiring annual payments as follows:
(Amounts in 000’s)
Operating leases

Less than 1 year
129

1-3 years
9

Total
138

Lorus has incurred approximately $200 thousand in costs, subsequent to the year-end, related to the postponed US financing which are
owed despite the termination of the proposed financing.
In addition, the Company is party to certain licensing agreements that require it to pay a proportion of any fees that it may receive from
future revenues or milestone payments. As of May 31, 2010 no amounts have been received by the Company relating to these
licensing agreements and therefore, no amounts are owing and the amount of future fees is not determinable.
The Company has entered into various consulting agreements that upon execution of a partnership agreement could result in liabilities
owing to such consultants. The amounts payable in these agreements are contingent on the amounts receivable by Lorus under such
partnership agreements. As of May 31, 2010 no amounts were owing and the amount of future fees payable to the consultants are not
determinable.
As at May 31, 2010, we have not entered into any off- balance sheet arrangements.
Indemnification
Under the Arrangement, Lorus agreed to indemnify Old Lorus and its directors, officers and employees from and against all damages,
losses, expenses (including fines and penalties), other third party costs and legal expenses, to which any of them may be subject
arising out of any matter occurring:
(i)

prior to, at or after the Effective Time of the Arrangement and directly or indirectly relating to any of the assets of Old
Lorus transferred to New Lorus pursuant to the Arrangement (including losses for income, sales, excise and other taxes
arising in connection with the transfer of any such asset) or conduct of the business prior to the Effective Time;

(ii)

prior to, at or after the Effective Time as a result of any and all interests, rights, liabilities and other matters relating to
the assets transferred by Old Lorus to New Lorus pursuant to the Arrangement; and

(iii)

prior to or at the Effective Time and directly or indirectly relating to, with certain exceptions, any of the activities of Old
Lorus or the Arrangement.
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Lorus has recorded a liability of $100 thousand, which we believe is a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation for the
indemnifications provided. The liability has been reduced in the current year to $100 thousand from $150 thousand due to changes in
assumption resulting from the passage of time. There have been no claims under this indemnification to date. This amount is included
on the balance sheet in Accrued Liabilities at May 31, 2010.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company has classified its financial instruments as follows:
May 31, 2010
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents, consisting of term deposits,
and guaranteed investment certificates measured at fair value
Short-term investments, held-for-trading,
recorded at fair value

$ 667

May 31, 2009
$

5,374

247

490

Financial liabilities
Accounts payable, measured at amortized cost

387

299

Accrued liabilities, measured at amortized cost

1,458

1,131

Promissory note payable, measured at amortized cost

1,000

—

—

14,448

Secured convertible debentures,
measured at amortized cost

Financial risk management
The Company has exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The Company’s Board of Directors has the overall responsibility
for the oversight of these risks and reviews the Company’s policies on an ongoing basis to ensure that these risks are appropriately
managed.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer, partner or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company's cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. The carrying
amount of the financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.
The Company manages credit risk for its cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments by maintaining minimum standards of
R1 low or A low investments and Lorus invests only in highly rated Canadian corporations with debt securities that are traded on active
markets and are capable of prompt liquidation.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. To the extent that the
Company does not believe it has sufficient liquidity to meet its current obligations, the Board considers securing additional funds
through equity, debt or partnering transactions. The Company manages its liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecasts and
actual cash flows. Refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for further discussion on the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices will affect the
Company's income or the value of its financial instruments.
The Company is subject to interest rate risk on its cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. The Company does not
believe that the results of operations or cash flows would be affected to any significant degree by a sudden change in market interest
rates relative to interest rates on the investments, owing to the relative short-term nature of the investments. The Company does not
have any material interest bearing liabilities subject to interest rate fluctuations.
Financial instruments potentially exposing the Company to foreign exchange risk consist principally of accounts payable and accrued
liabilities. The Company holds minimal amounts of U.S. dollar denominated cash, purchasing on an as needed basis to cover U.S.
dollar denominated payments. At May 31, 2010, U.S. dollar denominated accounts payable and accrued liabilities amounted to $270
thousand (2009 - $70 thousand). Assuming all other variables remain constant, a 10% depreciation or appreciation of the Canadian
dollar against the U.S. dollar would result in an increase or decrease in loss for the year and comprehensive loss of $27 thousand
(2009 - $7 thousand). The Company does not have any forward exchange contracts to hedge this risk.
The Company does not invest in equity instruments of other corporations.
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OUTLOOK
Until one of our drug candidates receives regulatory approval and is successfully commercialized, Lorus will continue to incur operating
losses. The magnitude of these operating losses will be largely affected by the timing and scope of future research and development,
clinical trials and the Company’s ability to raise additional working capital and/or establish effective partnerships to share the costs of
development and clinical trials.
As a result of the Company's current cash position, management is pursuing investment and other opportunities aimed at funding its
research and development programs. There can be no assurance that the capital will be available as necessary to meet these
continuing expenditures, or if the capital is available, that it will be on terms acceptable to the Company.
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
See ‘Subsequent Events’ for additional related party transactions.
In October 2009, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a member of its Board of Directors to borrow $1 million. The loan
amount, which was received on October 6, 2009, was unsecured, evidenced by a promissory note and bears interest at the annual rate
of 10%. The principal and interest was due in six months. The principal amount of $1.0 million was applied to subscribe for Units as
part of the November 27, 2009 private placement.
In April 2010, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a company related to the same member of its Board of Directors to
borrow $1 million. The loan amount, which was received on April 14, 2010, is unsecured, evidenced by a promissory note and bears
interest at the annual rate of 10%. The principal and interest amount are due in October 2010. The funds will be used for general
working capital purposes.
During the year ended May 31, 2010, the Company expensed consulting fees of nil to a director of the Company (2009 - $25 thousand;
2008 – $31 thousand). There was no amount payable at May 31, 2010 (2009 - nil; 2008 - $30 thousand).
This transaction was in the normal course of business and has been measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of
consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

RISK FACTORS
Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. Before making an investment decision with respect to our common shares,
you should carefully consider the following risk factors, in addition to the other information included or incorporated by reference into
this annual information form, as well as our historical consolidated financial statements and related notes. The risks set out below are
not the only risks we face. If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition, prospects or results of operations would
likely suffer. In that case, the trading price of our common shares could decline and you may lose all or part of the money you paid to
buy our common shares.
We might not be able to continue as a going concern.
We have forecasted that our level of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments will not be sufficient to execute our current
planned expenditures for the next 12 months without further investment. We intend to continue to pursue additional funding and
partnership opportunities to execute our planned expenditures in the future, but there can be no assurance that sufficient capital will be
available to enable us to meet these continuing expenditures, or if the capital is available, that it will be available on terms acceptable to
us. If we are unable to obtain sufficient financing on acceptable terms in order to meet our future operational needs, there is a
significant doubt as to whether we will be able to continue as a going concern and realize our assets and pay our liabilities as they fall
due, in which case investors may lose their investment.
We need to raise additional capital.
We need to raise additional capital. To obtain the necessary capital, we must rely on some or all of the following: grants and tax credits,
additional share issues and collaboration agreements or corporate partnerships to provide full or partial funding for our activities. We
cannot assure you that additional funding will be available on terms that are acceptable to us or in amounts that will enable us to carry
out our business plan.
If we cannot obtain the necessary capital on acceptable terms, we will have to:
•

engage in equity financings that could result in significant dilution to existing investors;

•

delay or reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our development programs;

•

obtain funds through arrangements with collaborators or others that may require us to relinquish rights to
technologies, product candidates or products that we would otherwise seek to develop or commercialize ourselves; or
license rights to technologies, product candidates or products on terms that are less favourable to us than might
otherwise be available;

•

considerably reduce operations; or

•

cease our operations.
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We have a history of operating losses. We expect to incur net losses and we may never achieve or maintain profitability.
We have not been profitable since our inception in 1986. Under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, we reported net
(earnings) losses of ($5.3 million), $8.9 million and $6.3 million for the years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and as
of May 31, 2010, we had an accumulated deficit of $184.1 million.
TM
To date we have only generated nominal revenues from the sale of Virulizin in Mexico and revenues associated with the license
TM
agreement with Zor Pharmaceuticals, LLC. We stopped selling Virulizin in Mexico in July 2005 and assigned the rights under the Zor
Agreement to The Erin Mills Investment Corporation, as part of the consideration for our repurchase of secured convertible debentures
in June 2009. We have not generated any other revenue from product sales to date and it is possible that we will never have sufficient
product sales revenue to achieve profitability. We expect to continue to incur losses for at least the next several years as we or our
collaborators and licensees pursue clinical trials and research and development efforts. To become profitable, we, either alone or with
our collaborators and licensees, must successfully develop, manufacture and market our current product candidate, LOR-2040, as well
as continue to identify, develop, manufacture and market new product candidates. It is possible that we will never have significant
product sales revenue or receive significant royalties on our licensed product candidates. If funding is insufficient at any time in the
future, we may not be able to develop or commercialize our products, take advantage of business opportunities or respond to
competitive pressures.

We are an early stage development company.
We are at an early stage of development. Significant additional investment will be necessary to complete the development of any of our
products. Pre-clinical and clinical trial work must be completed before our products could be ready for use within the market that we
have identified. We may fail to develop any products, to obtain regulatory approvals, to enter clinical trials or to commercialize any
products. We do not know whether any of our potential product development efforts will prove to be effective, meet applicable
regulatory standards, obtain the requisite regulatory approvals, be capable of being manufactured at a reasonable cost or be accepted
in the marketplace.
The product candidates we are currently developing are not expected to be commercially viable for several years and we may
encounter unforeseen difficulties or delays in commercializing our product candidates. In addition, our products may cause undesirable
side effects.
Our product candidates require significant funding to reach regulatory approval assuming positive clinical results. Such funding will be
very difficult, or impossible to raise in the public markets. If such partnerships are not attainable, the development of these product
candidates maybe significantly delayed or stopped altogether. The announcement of such delay or discontinuation of development
may have a negative impact on our share price.
We have indemnified our predecessor, Old Lorus, and its directors, officers and employees.
In connection with the reorganization that we undertook in fiscal 2008, we have agreed to indemnify our predecessor, Old Lorus, and its
directors, officers and employees from and against all damages, losses, expenses (including fines and penalties), other third party costs
and legal expenses, to which any of them may be subject arising out of any matter occurring:
•

prior to, at or after the effective time of the arrangement transaction, and directly or indirectly relating to any of the
assets of Old Lorus transferred to us pursuant to the arrangement transaction (including losses for income, sales,
excise and other taxes arising in connection with the transfer of any such asset) or conduct of the business prior to
the effective time of the arrangement;

•

prior to, at or after the effective time as a result of any and all interests, rights, liabilities and other matters relating to
the assets transferred by Old Lorus to us under he arrangement; and

•

prior to or at the effective time and directly or indirectly relating to, with certain exceptions, any of the activities of Old
Lorus or the arrangement.

This indemnification could result in significant liability to us.
We may be unable to obtain partnerships for one or more of our product candidates, which could curtail future
development and negatively affect our share price. In addition, our partners might not satisfy their contractual
responsibilities or devote sufficient resources to our partnership.
Our strategy for the research, development and commercialization of our products requires entering into various arrangements with
corporate collaborators, licensers, licensees and others, and our commercial success is dependent upon these outside parties
performing their respective contractual responsibilities. The amount and timing of resources that such third parties will devote to these
activities may not be within our control. We cannot assure you that such parties will perform their obligations as expected. We also
cannot assure you that our collaborators will devote adequate resources to our programs. In addition, we could become involved in
disputes with our collaborators, which could result in a delay or termination of the related development programs or result in litigation.
We intend to seek additional collaborative arrangements to develop and commercialize some of our products. We may not be able to
negotiate collaborative arrangements on favourable terms, or at all, in the future, or that our current or future collaborative
arrangements will be successful. If we cannot negotiate collaboration, licence or partnering agreements, we may never achieve
profitability.
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Clinical trials are long, expensive and uncertain processes and Health Canada or the FDA may ultimately not approve any
of our product candidates. We may never develop any commercial drugs or other products that generate revenues.
None of our product candidates has received regulatory approval for commercial use and sale in North America. We cannot market a
pharmaceutical product in any jurisdiction until it has completed thorough preclinical testing and clinical trials in addition to that
jurisdiction’s extensive regulatory approval process. In general, significant research and development and clinical studies are required
to demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of our product candidates before we can submit any regulatory applications.
Clinical trials are long, expensive and uncertain processes. Clinical trials may not be commenced or completed on schedule, and Health
Canada or the FDA or any other regulatory body may not ultimately approve our product candidates for commercial sale.
The clinical trials of any of our drug candidates could be unsuccessful, which would prevent us from advancing, commercializing or
partnering the drug.
Even if the results of our preclinical studies or clinical trials are initially positive, it is possible that we will obtain different results in the
later stages of drug development or that results seen in clinical trials will not continue with longer term treatment. Positive results in
early Phase I or Phase II clinical trials may not be repeated in larger Phase II or Phase III clinical trials. For example, results of our
TM
Phase III clinical trial of Virulizin did not meet the primary endpoint of the study despite promising preclinical and early stage clinical
data. All of our potential drug candidates are prone to the risks of failure inherent in drug development.
Preparing, submitting and advancing applications for regulatory approval is complex, expensive and time intensive and entails
significant uncertainty. A commitment of substantial resources to conduct time-consuming research, preclinical studies and clinical trials
will be required if we are to complete development of our products.
Clinical trials of our products require that we identify and enrol a large number of patients with the illness under investigation. We may
not be able to enrol a sufficient number of appropriate patients to complete our clinical trials in a timely manner particularly in smaller
indications such as acute myeloid leukemia. If we experience difficulty in enrolling a sufficient number of patients to conduct our clinical
trials, we may need to delay or terminate ongoing clinical trials and will not accomplish objectives material to our success that could
affect the price of our Common Shares. Delays in planned patient enrolment or lower than anticipated event rates in our current clinical
trials or future clinical trials may result in increased costs, program delays, or both.
In addition, unacceptable toxicities or adverse side effects may occur at any time in the course of preclinical studies or human clinical
trials or, if any product candidates are successfully developed and approved for marketing, during commercial use of any approved
products. The appearance of any such unacceptable toxicities or adverse side effects could interrupt, limit, delay or abort the
development of any of our product candidates or, if previously approved, necessitate their withdrawal from the market. Furthermore,
disease resistance or other unforeseen factors may limit the effectiveness of our potential products.
Our failure to develop safe, commercially viable drugs would substantially impair our ability to generate revenues and sustain our
operations and would materially harm our business and adversely affect our share price. We may never achieve profitability.
As a result of intense competition and technological change in the pharmaceutical industry, the marketplace may not
accept our products or product candidates, and we may not be able to compete successfully against other companies in our
industry and achieve profitability.
Many of our competitors have:
•

drug products that have already been approved or are in development, and operate large, well-funded research and
development programs in these fields;

•

substantially greater financial and management resources, stronger intellectual property positions and greater
manufacturing, marketing and sales capabilities, areas in which we have limited or no experience; and

•

significantly greater experience than we do in undertaking preclinical testing and clinical trials of new or improved
pharmaceutical products and obtaining required regulatory approvals.

Consequently, our competitors may obtain Health Canada, FDA and other regulatory approvals for product candidates sooner and may
be more successful in manufacturing and marketing their products than we or our collaborators are.
Our competitor’s existing and future products, therapies and technological approaches will compete directly with the products we seek
to develop. Current and prospective competing products may provide greater therapeutic benefits for a specific problem or may offer
easier delivery or comparable performance at a lower cost;
Any product candidate that we develop and that obtains regulatory approval must then compete for market acceptance and market
share. Our product candidates may not gain market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payers and the medical
community. Further, any products we develop may become obsolete before we recover any expenses we incurred in connection with
the development of these products. As a result, we may never achieve profitability.
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If we fail to attract and retain key employees, the development and commercialization of our products may be adversely
affected.
We depend heavily on the principal members of our scientific and management staff. If we lose any of these persons, our ability to
develop products and become profitable could suffer. The risk of being unable to retain key personnel may be increased by the fact that
we have not executed long-term employment contracts with our employees, except for our senior executives. Our future success will
also depend in large part on our ability to attract and retain other highly qualified scientific and management personnel. We face
competition for personnel from other companies, academic institutions, government entities and other organizations.
We may be unable to obtain patents to protect our technologies from other companies with competitive products, and
patents of other companies could prevent us from manufacturing, developing or marketing our products.
Patent protection:
The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies are uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions.
The United States Patent and Trademark Office and many other patent offices in the world have not established a consistent policy
regarding the breadth of claims that they will allow in biotechnology patents.
Allowable patentable subject matter and the scope of patent protection obtainable may differ between jurisdictions. If a patent office
allows broad claims, the number and cost of patent interference proceedings in the United States, or analogous proceedings in other
jurisdictions and the risk of infringement litigation may increase. If it allows narrow claims, the risk of infringement may decrease, but the
value of our rights under our patents, licenses and patent applications may also decrease.
The scope of the claims in a patent application can be significantly modified during prosecution before the patent is issued.
Consequently, we cannot know whether our pending applications will result in the issuance of patents or, if any patents are issued,
whether they will provide us with significant proprietary protection or will be circumvented, invalidated or found to be unenforceable.
Until recently, patent applications in the United States were maintained in secrecy until the patents issued, and publication of
discoveries in scientific or patent literature often lags behind actual discoveries. Patent applications filed in the United States after
November 2000 generally will be published 18 months after the filing date unless the applicant certifies that the invention will not be the
subject of a foreign patent application. In many other jurisdictions, such as Canada, patent applications are published 18 months from
the priority date. We cannot assure you that, even if published, we will be aware of all such literature. Accordingly, we cannot be
certain that the named inventors of our products and processes were the first to invent that product or process or that we were the first
to pursue patent coverage for our inventions.
Enforcement of intellectual property rights:
Protection of the rights revealed in published patent applications can be complex, costly and uncertain. Our commercial success
depends in part on our ability to maintain and enforce our proprietary rights. If third parties engage in activities that infringe our
proprietary rights, our management’s focus will be diverted and we may incur significant costs in asserting our rights. We may not be
successful in asserting our proprietary rights, which could result in our patents being held invalid or a court holding that the third party is
not infringing, either of which would harm our competitive position.
Others may design around our patented technology. We may have to participate in interference proceedings declared by the United
States Patent and Trademark Office, European opposition proceedings, or other analogous proceedings in other parts of the world to
determine priority of invention and the validity of patent rights granted or applied for, which could result in substantial cost and delay,
even if the eventual outcome is favourable to us. We cannot assure you that our pending patent applications, if issued, would be held
valid or enforceable.
Trade secrets:
We also rely on trade secrets, know-how and confidentiality provisions in our agreements with our collaborators, employees and
consultants to protect our intellectual property. However, these and other parties may not comply with the terms of their agreements
with us, and we might be unable to adequately enforce our rights against these people or obtain adequate compensation for the
damages caused by their unauthorized disclosure or use of our trade secrets or know how. Our trade secrets or those of our
collaborators may become known or may be independently discovered by others.
Our products and product candidates may infringe the intellectual property rights of others, which could increase our
costs.
Our success also depends on avoiding infringement of the proprietary technologies of others. In particular, there may be certain issued
patents and patent applications claiming subject matter which we or our collaborators may be required to license in order to research,
develop or commercialize at least some of our product candidates, including LOR-2040 and small molecules. In addition, third-parties
may assert infringement or other intellectual property claims against us based on our patents or other intellectual property rights. An
adverse outcome in these proceedings could subject us to significant liabilities to third-parties, require disputed rights to be licensed
from third-parties or require us to cease or modify our use of the technology. If we are required to license such technology, we cannot
assure you that a license under such patents and patent applications will be available on acceptable terms or at all. Further, we may
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incur substantial costs defending ourselves in lawsuits against charges of patent infringement or other unlawful use of another’s
proprietary technology.
If product liability claims are brought against us or we are unable to obtain or maintain product liability insurance, we
may incur substantial liabilities that could reduce our financial resources.
The clinical testing and commercial use of pharmaceutical products involves significant exposure to product liability claims. We have
obtained limited product liability insurance coverage for our clinical trials on humans; however, our insurance coverage may be
insufficient to protect us against all product liability damages. Further, liability insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive
and we might not be able to obtain or maintain product liability insurance in the future on acceptable terms or in sufficient amounts to
protect us against product liability damages. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in decreased demand
for a future product, injury to reputation, withdrawal of clinical trial volunteers, loss of revenue, costs of litigation, distraction of
management and substantial monetary awards to plaintiffs. Additionally, if we are required to pay a product liability claim, we may not
have sufficient financial resources to complete development or commercialization of any of our product candidates and our business
and results of operations will be adversely affected.
We have no manufacturing capabilities. We depend on third-parties, including a number of sole suppliers, for
manufacturing and storage of our product candidates used in our clinical trials. Product introductions may be delayed or
suspended if the manufacture of our products is interrupted or discontinued.
Other than limited quantities for research purposes, we do not have manufacturing facilities to produce supplies of LOR-2040, small
molecule or any of our other product candidates to support clinical trials or commercial launch of these products, if they are approved.
We are dependent on third parties for manufacturing and storage of our product candidates. If we are unable to contract for a sufficient
supply of our product candidates on acceptable terms, or if we encounter delays or difficulties in the manufacturing process or our
relationships with our manufacturers, we may not have sufficient product to conduct or complete our clinical trials or support
preparations for the commercial launch of our product candidates, if approved.
Our operations involve hazardous materials and we must comply with environmental laws and regulations, which can be
expensive and restrict how we do business.
Our research and development activities involve the controlled use of hazardous materials, radioactive compounds and other potentially
dangerous chemicals and biological agents. Although we believe our safety procedures for these materials comply with governmental
standards, we cannot entirely eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials. We currently have insurance,
in amounts and on terms typical for companies in businesses that are similarly situated that could cover all or a portion of a damage
claim arising from our use of hazardous and other materials. However, if an accident or environmental discharge occurs, and we are
held liable for any resulting damages, the associated liability could exceed our insurance coverage and our financial resources.
Our interest income is subject to fluctuations of interest rates in our investment portfolio.
Our investments are held to maturity and have staggered maturities to minimize interest rate risk. We cannot assure you that interest
income fluctuations will not have an adverse impact on our financial condition. We maintain all our accounts in Canadian dollars, but a
portion of our expenditures are in foreign currencies. We do not currently engage in hedging our foreign currency requirements to
reduce exchange rate risk.
Risks Related To Our Common Shares
Our share price has been and may continue to be volatile and an investment in our Common Shares could suffer a
decline in value.
You should consider an investment in our Common Shares as risky and invest only if you can withstand a significant loss and wide
fluctuations in the market value of your investment. We receive only limited attention by securities analysts and frequently experience
an imbalance between supply and demand for our Common Shares. The market price of our Common Shares has been highly volatile
and is likely to continue to be volatile. Factors affecting our Common Share price include but are not limited to:
•

our financial position and doubt as to whether we will be able to continue as a going concern;

•

our ability to raise additional capital;

•

the progress of our and our collaborators’ clinical trials, including our and our collaborators’ ability to produce clinical
supplies of our product candidates on a timely basis and in sufficient quantities to meet our clinical trial requirements;

•

announcements of technological innovations or new product candidates by us, our collaborators or our competitors;

•

fluctuations in our operating results;

•

published reports by securities analysts;

•

developments in patent or other intellectual property rights;

•

publicity concerning discovery and development activities by our licensees;
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•

the cash and short term investments held us and our ability to secure future financing;

•

public concern as to the safety and efficacy of drugs that we and our competitors develop;

•

governmental regulation and changes in medical and pharmaceutical product reimbursement policies; and

•

general market conditions.

Future sales of our Common Shares by us or by our existing shareholders could cause our share price to fall.
The issuance of Common Shares by us could result in significant dilution in the equity interest of existing shareholders and adversely
affect the market price of our Common Shares. Sales by existing shareholders of a large number of our Common Shares in the public
market and the issuance of shares issued in connection with strategic alliances, or the perception that such additional sales could
occur, could cause the market price of our Common Shares to decline.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The Company periodically reviews its financial reporting and disclosure practices and accounting policies to ensure that they provide
accurate and transparent information relative to the current economic and business environment. As part of this process, the
Company has reviewed its selection, application and communication of critical accounting policies and financial disclosures.
Management has discussed the development and selection of the critical accounting policies with the Audit Committee of the Board
of Directors and the Audit Committee has reviewed the disclosure relating to critical accounting policies in this MD&A. Other
important accounting polices are described in note 3 of the Financial Statements.
(a) Drug Development Costs
We incur costs related to the research and development of pharmaceutical products and technologies for the management of
cancer. These costs include internal and external costs for preclinical research and clinical trials, drug costs, regulatory compliance
costs and patent application costs. All research costs are expensed as incurred as required under GAAP.
Development costs, including the cost of drugs for use in clinical trials, are expensed as incurred unless they meet the criteria under
GAAP for deferral and amortization. The Company continually assesses its activities to determine when, if ever, development costs
may qualify for capitalization. By expensing the research and development costs as required under GAAP, the value of the product
portfolio is not reflected on the Company's Financial Statements.
(b) Stock-Based Compensation
We have applied the fair value based method to expense stock options awarded since June 1, 2002 using the Black-Scholes optionpricing model as allowed under Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Section 3870. The option pricing
model calculates the theoretical fair value of fully transferable options, without vesting restrictions, which significantly differs from the
stock option awards granted by Lorus. The option pricing model also requires four highly subjective assumptions including future
stock price volatility and expected time until exercise, which greatly affect the calculated fair values. The increase or decrease of
one of these assumptions could materially increase or decrease the fair value of stock options issued and the associated expense.
(c) Valuation Allowance for Future Tax Assets
We have a net tax benefit resulting from non-capital losses carried forward, and scientific research and experimental development
expenditures. In light of the continued net losses and uncertainty regarding our future ability to generate taxable income,
management is of the opinion that it is not more likely than not that these tax assets will be realized in the foreseeable future and
hence, a full valuation allowance has been recorded against these income tax assets. Consequently, no future income tax assets or
liabilities are recorded on the balance sheets.
The generation of future taxable income could result in the recognition of some portion or all of the remaining benefits, which could
result in an improvement in our results of operations through the recovery of future income taxes.
(d) Valuation of Goodwill and Long Lived Assets
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is tested for impairment on an annual basis and at any other time if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would indicate that impairment may exist. The impairment test is carried out in two steps. In the first
step, the carrying amount of the reporting unit including goodwill is compared with its fair value. When the fair value of a reporting
unit including goodwill exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered to be impaired and the second
step of the impairment test is unnecessary. The second step is carried out when the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its
fair value, in which case the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to measure the
amount of the impairment loss if any. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as the value of goodwill is
determined in a business combination.
The Company reviews long-lived assets which include fixed assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be
recoverable. If the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of
an asset is less than its carrying amount, it is considered to be impaired. An impairment loss is measured at the amount by which
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value, which is estimated as the expected future cash flows discounted at a rate
proportionate with the risks associated with the recovery of the asset.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Recommendations
Effective June 1, 2009, the Company adopted the following accounting policies:
(a) Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Effective June 1, 2009, the Company adopted The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants' ("CICA") Handbook Section 3064,
Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which replaced Handbook Section 3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets ("Section 3062"),
and Section 3450, Research and Development Costs and establishes the standards for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets. The adoption of this new standard did not have an impact on the Company's
consolidated financial statements.
(b) Financial Instruments
Effective June 1, 2009, the Company adopted the amendments under Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments - Disclosures
("Section 3862"), to include additional disclosure requirements about fair value measurement for financial instruments and liquidity
risk disclosures. These amendments require a three level hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the fair
value measurements. Fair value of assets and liabilities included in Level 1 are determined by reference to quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities in Level 2 include valuations using inputs other than the quoted
prices for which all significant inputs are based on observable market data, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 valuations are based
on inputs that are not based on observable market data. The adoption of the new standard did not have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
(c) Credit risk and fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities:
Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted Emerging Issue Committee Abstract 173 ("EIC 173"), Credit Risk and the Fair
Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. EIC 173 requires the Company to take into account the Company's own credit
risk and the credit risk of the counterparty in determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, including derivative
instruments. The adoption of the new standard did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
Recent Accounting Recommendations not yet adopted
The Canadian Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) requires all Canadian publicly accountable entities to adopt IFRS for years
beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Lorus’ first annual filing will be for the year ended May 31, 2012; its first filing under IFRS will be
for the quarter ending August 31, 2011 and will include IFRS comparative figures for the period ended August 31, 2010. Accordingly,
Lorus’ adoption date for IFRS is June 1, 2011, but the transition date (“Transition Date”) is June 1, 2010 in order to accommodate IFRS
comparative figures in Lorus’ 2011 financial statements.
IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to Canadian GAAP (“CGAAP”); however, there are significant differences in recognition,
measurement and disclosure. Given the nature of Lorus’ business and the make-up of its current balance sheet IFRS could have an
impact on its reported financial statements. The Company’s implementation of IFRS will require the Company to make and disclose
certain policy choices and increase the amount of disclosure necessary to fulfill its IFRS reporting obligations.
Adoption of IFRS is not expected to change the actual cash flows the Company generates or change its business activities. To the
extent possible, Lorus will make these choices with a view to providing meaningful information to stakeholders that is also comparable
between industry peers.
Project Plan:
The Company is managing the IFRS conversion requirements in phases:
Phase 1 – Scope and Plan
The objective of Phase 1 involves the preparation of an IFRS conversion plan and consists of the following activities:
♦ establishment of a project management structure;
♦ completion of a high-level diagnostic assessment that identified potential differences between IFRS and Canadian GAAP and
implementation challenges that may impact the Company.
Phase 2 - Design and Build
This phase involves performing the comprehensive IFRS conversion and is in progress. The key elements of Phase 2 are as follows:
♦ make policy and disclosure choices and design IFRS compliant internal and external reporting;
♦ assess control framework implications to supporting an IFRS reporting environment; and
♦ assess the financial statement impact of IFRS
Phase 3 - Implement and Review
This phase, which commenced in the first quarter of fiscal 2010 focuses on enabling continued IFRS reporting development, including
the development of draft comparative/parallel reporting and facilitating knowledge transfer. The key elements of Phase 3 are as follows:

♦

Using the May 31, 2010 Canadian GAAP financial statements, prepare IFRS illustrative financial statements based on the
proposed policy choices determined in Phase 2 to include:
o June 1, 2010 Transition Date balance sheet and reconciliation from CGAAP to IFRS
o August 31, 2010 financial statements and reconciliations from CGAAP to IFRS
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♦
♦
♦
♦

o Full set of IFRS-based notes, including the IFRS Transition note;
Continue to update the IFRS illustrative financial statements each quarter for the year ending May 31, 2012 (resulting in
appropriate comparative amounts and reconciliations);
Develop new accounting policies, guidelines, processes for reporting packages to regulators, the Board of Directors and internal
management;
Develop revised internal control and disclosure control processes as necessary, updating key controls as required, and address
any internal or disclosure control deficiencies;
Provide technical accounting training and deliver initial and on-going controls training, and

Current Implementation Status
To date, Phase 1 has been completed and the Company is in the process of assessing policy and disclosure choices through the
preparation of impact assessments based on those changes expected to have the largest impact on the financial statements and
internal control processes and controls. Based on initial analysis, the areas which are expected to have the most significant impact on
the Company include:

♦
♦
♦
♦
♦
♦

Property, plant and equipment (IAS 16)
Intangible Assets (IAS 38)
Impairment (IAS 36)
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (IAS 37)
Stock-based compensation (IFRS 2)
Financial statement presentation (IAS 1)

The Company is in the process of identifying the impact of these changes and the availability of various policy choices and optional
exemptions under IFRS 1 First time adoption of IFRS. Management has yet to determine the extent to which it will affect the financial
statements when these standards are implemented. Management has provided the Board of Directors with details of the
implementation strategy and has established a reporting schedule and timeline for fiscal 2011 in order to meet its implementation
requirements.
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Company has implemented a system of internal controls that it believes adequately protects the assets of the Company and is
appropriate for the nature of its business and the size of its operations. These internal controls include disclosure controls and
procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company is accumulated and communicated as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Internal controls over financial reporting means a process designed by or under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and the
acting Chief Financial Officer, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. The internal controls are not expected to prevent and detect all
misstatements due to error or fraud. Management advises that there have been no changes in the Corporation’s internal controls over
financial reporting during 2010 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Corporation’s internal control
over financial reporting.
As at May 31, 2010, the Company’s management evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and
procedures and operation of its internal controls over financial reporting using the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) framework. Based on their evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the acting Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that these controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that material information is
made known to them by others in the Company. Management has identified the following two areas of concern, but believes that the
Company’s limited number of transactions, day-to-day management involvement in operations and reporting and access to third party
experts are sufficient compensating controls to limit our risk of material misstatement.
Segregation of Duties
Given our limited staff, certain duties within the accounting and finance department cannot be properly segregated. We believe that
none of the segregation of duty concerns has resulted in a material misstatement to the financial statements as we rely on certain
compensating controls, including substantive periodic review of the financial statements by the Chief Executive Officer and Audit
Committee. This weakness is considered to be a common area of deficiency for many smaller listed companies in Canada. We
continue to evaluate whether additional accounting staff should be hired to deal with this weakness.
Complex and Non-Routine Transactions
As required, we record complex and non-routine transactions. These sometimes are extremely technical in nature and require an indepth understanding of GAAP. Our accounting staff has only a fair and reasonable knowledge of the rules related to GAAP and
reporting and the transactions may not be recorded correctly, potentially resulting in material misstatement of our financial statements.
To address this risk, we consult with our third-party expert advisors as needed in connection with the recording and reporting of
complex and non-routine transactions. At a future date, we may consider expanding the technical expertise within our accounting
function. In the meantime, we will continue to work closely with our third party advisors.
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UPDATED SHARE INFORMATION
As at August 30, 2010, the Company had 9.9 million common shares issued and outstanding and 622 thousand common share
purchase warrants convertible into an equal number of common shares. In addition, the Company had issued and outstanding 650
thousand stock options to purchase an equal number of common shares.
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Additional information relating to Lorus, including Lorus' 2010 annual information form and other disclosure documents, is available
on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. For any information filed prior to July 10, 2007 please access the information on SEDAR for Global
Summit Real Estate Inc. (Old Lorus).
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Lorus Therapeutics Inc. and other
financial information contained in this annual report are the responsibility of Management and
have been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles, using Management’s best estimates and judgments where
appropriate. In the opinion of Management, these consolidated financial statements reflect fairly
the financial position and the results of operations and cash flows of the Company within
reasonable limits of materiality. The financial information contained elsewhere in this annual
report has been reviewed to ensure consistency with that in the consolidated financial
statements. The integrity and objectivity of data in the financial statements and elsewhere in this
annual report are the responsibility of Management.
In discharging its responsibility for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements,
management maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance,
at appropriate cost, that transactions are authorized, assets are safeguarded and proper records
are maintained. Management believes that the internal controls provide reasonable assurance
that financial records are reliable and form a proper basis for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, and that assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded. The internal
control process includes management’s communication to employees of policies that govern
ethical business conduct.
The Board of Directors, through an Audit Committee, oversees management’s responsibilities for
financial reporting. This committee, which consists of three independent directors, reviews the
audited consolidated financial statements and recommends the financial statements to the Board
for approval. Other key responsibilities of the Audit Committee include reviewing the adequacy of
the Company’s existing internal controls, audit process and financial reporting with management
and the external auditors.
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, Chartered Accountants,
who are independent auditors appointed by the shareholders of the Company upon the
recommendation of the Audit Committee. Their report follows. The independent auditors have
free and full access to the Audit Committee.

Aiping Young
President and Chief Executive Officer

Elizabeth Williams
Director of Finance (Acting Chief Financial
Officer)

KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants
Bay Adelaide Centre
333 Bay Street Suite 4600
Toronto ON M5H 2S5
Canada

Telephone
Fax
Internet

(416) 777-8500
(416) 777-8818
www.kpmg.ca

AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Lorus Therapeutics Inc. as at May 31, 2010 and
2009 and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, deficit and cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended May 31, 2010 and for the period from
inception on September 5, 1986 to May 31, 2010. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as at May 31, 2010 and 2009 and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended May 31, 2010 and for the period
from inception on September 5, 1986 to May 31, 2010 in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada
August 23, 2010, except
as to note 18 which is
as of August 27, 2010

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.

LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)
May 31, 2010 and 2009
2010

2009

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (notes 9 and 12)
Short-term investments (notes 4 and 9)
Prepaid expenses and other assets

$

Fixed assets (note 5)
Goodwill

667
247
636
1,550

$

147
606

5,374
490
826
6,690
231
606

$

2,303

$

7,527

$

387
1,458
1,000
–
2,845

$

299
1,131
–
14,448
15,878

Liabilities and Shareholders' Deficiency
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Promissory note payable (note 17)
Secured convertible debentures (note 13)
Shareholders' deficiency:
Share capital (note 6):
Common shares
Equity portion of secured convertible
debentures (note 13)
Stock options
Contributed surplus
Warrants
Deficit accumulated during development stage

163,920

162,240

–
3,704
14,875
1,039
(184,080)
(542)

3,814
3,845
10,744
417
(189,411)
(8,351)

Basis of presentation (note 1)
Contingencies, commitments and guarantees (note 14)
Subsequent events (note 18)
$
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
On behalf of the Board:
"Denis R. Burger"

Director

"Aiping H. Young"

Director

1

2,303

$

7,527

LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income
(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for per common share data)

Years ended May 31,
2010
2009
Revenue

$

Expenses:
Research and development (note 11)
General and administrative
Stock-based compensation (note 7)
Depreciation and amortization of
fixed assets
Cost of sales

131

$

184

$

2008
43

Period from
inception on
September 5,
1986 to
May 31,
2010
$

1,171

2,517
2,964
176

3,757
2,958
446

6,260
3,715
719

126,514
60,839
8,594

86
–
5,743

189
–
7,350

317
2
11,013

9,817
105
205,869

54

707

1,029

4,022

80

1,707

1,176

4,983

–
(21)
113

–
(270)
2,144

–
(542)
1,663

412
(12,257)
(2,840)

Loss from operations

(5,725)

(9,310)

(12,633)

(201,858)

Gain on repurchase of convertible debentures
and transfer of assets (note 13)
Gain on sale of shares (notes 1(b) and 14)

11,006
50

–
6,299

11,006
6,799

Other expenses (income):
Interest expense
Accretion in carrying value of
convertible debentures
(note 13)
Amortization of deferred financing
costs (note 13)
Interest income

–
450

Net earnings (loss) for the period and other
comprehensive income (loss)

$ 5,331

$ (8,860)

$

(6,334)

Basic and diluted earnings (loss)
per common share

$

$

$

(0.87)

Weighted average number of
common shares outstanding
used in the calculation of (in thousands):
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

0.57

9,364
9,379

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2

(1.08)

8,236
8,236

7,169
7,169

$ (184,053)

LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Deficit
(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Years ended May 31,
2009

2010
Deficit, beginning of period:
As previously reported
Change in accounting policy
As restated
Net earnings (loss) for the period
Deficit, end of period

$ (189,411)
–
(189,411)
5,331
$ (184,080)

$ (180,551)
–
(180,551)

$ (174,190)
(27)
(174,217)

(8,860)

(6,334)

(184,053)

$ (189,411)

$ (180,551)

$ (184,080)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

3

2008

Period from
inception on
September 5,
1986 to
May 31,
2010
$

–
(27)
(27)

LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Years ended May 31,
2010
2009
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings (loss) for the period
Items not involving cash:
Gain on repurchase of convertible
debentures and transfer of assets
(note 13)
Gain on sale of shares (note 1(b) and 14)
Stock-based compensation
Interest on convertible debentures
Accretion in carrying value of
convertible debentures
Amortization of deferred financing
costs
Depreciation, amortization and
write-down of fixed assets and
acquired patents and licenses
Other
Change in non-cash operating working
capital (note 12)
Cash used in operating activities

$

$

(11,006)
(50)
176
15

Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance of debentures, net of
issuance costs
Issuance (repurchase) of warrants
Payment on settlement of convertible debentures,
including transaction costs (note 13)
Proceeds on sale of shares, net of
arrangement costs (note 1(b) and 14)
Issuance of common shares and warrants,
net of issuance costs (note 6)
Cash provided by financing activities

(184,053)

–
(6,299)
719
1,029

(11,006)
(6,799)
8,594
3,983
4,983

–

–

–

412

86
(8)

189
(10)

317
(7)

1,655
(3,721)

(942)
(7,213)

(794)
(10,193)

–

22,378
437
1,201
(159,870)

–
(252)

12,948
37,153

–

–

600

7,561

6,899

3,207
3,807

–
7,309

114,519
167,998

6,304
–
–
(176)
–
6,128

4,189
–
–
(58)
–
4,131

(4,707)

2,722

1,247

667

5,374

2,652

1,405

–

250
–
–
(2)
–
248

667

Supplemental cash flow information (note 12)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

1,176

2,287
(1,234)

$

(6,334)

1,707

–

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

$

80

(3,521)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(8,860)

–
(450)
446
707

–
–

Cash flows from investing activities:
Maturity (purchase) of investments, net
Business acquisition, net of cash received
Acquired patents and licenses
Additions to fixed assets
Proceeds on sale of fixed assets
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

5,331

2008

Period from
inception on
September 5,
1986 to
May 31,
2010

$

5,374

$

2,652

(3,521)

(250)
(539)
(715)
(6,305)
348
(7,461)

$

667

LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

1.

Basis of presentation:
(a) Going concern:
Lorus Therapeutics Inc. (the "Company") has not earned substantial revenue from its drug
candidates and is therefore considered to be in the development stage. The continuation
of the Company's research and development activities is dependent upon the Company's
ability to successfully fund its cash requirements through a combination of equity financing
and payments from strategic partners. The Company has no current sources of significant
payments from strategic partners.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles ("Canadian GAAP").
The going concern basis of presentation assumes that the Company will continue in
operation for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its
liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. There is significant doubt
about the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis because management has
forecasted that the Company's current level of cash and cash equivalents and short-term
investments, including the $4 million investment described in note 18, will not be sufficient
to execute its current planned expenditures for the next 12 months without further
investment. The Company is currently in discussion with several potential investors to
provide additional funding. Management believes that it will complete one or more of these
arrangements in sufficient time to continue to execute its planned expenditures without
interruption. However, there can be no assurance that the capital will be available as
necessary to meet these continuing expenditures, or if the capital is available, that it will be
on terms acceptable to the Company. The issuance of common shares by the Company
could result in significant dilution in the equity interest of existing shareholders. The
Company is also considering alternatives to delay its research program until financing is
available, amongst other cost savings measures. There can be no assurance that the
Company will be able to obtain sufficient financing to meet future operational needs. As a
result, there is a significant doubt as to whether the Company will be able to continue as a
going concern and realize its assets and pay its liabilities as they fall due.
The consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if
the going concern assumption were not appropriate. If the going concern basis were not
appropriate for these consolidated financial statements, then adjustments would be
necessary in the carrying value of the assets and liabilities, the reported revenue and
expenses and the balance sheets classifications used.
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LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

1.

Basis of presentation (continued):
(b) Reorganization:
On November 1, 2006, the Company was incorporated as 6650309 Canada Inc. pursuant
to the provisions of the Canada Business Corporation Act and did not carry out any active
business from the date of incorporation to July 10, 2007. From its incorporation to July 10,
2007, the Company was a wholly owned subsidiary of 4325231 Canada Inc., formerly
Lorus Therapeutics Inc. ("Old Lorus").
On July 10, 2007, the Company and Old Lorus completed a plan of arrangement and
corporate reorganization (the "Arrangement"). As part of the Arrangement, all of the assets
and liabilities of Old Lorus (including all of the shares of its subsidiaries held by it), with the
exception of certain future tax assets were transferred, directly or indirectly, from Old Lorus
to the Company. Securityholders in Old Lorus exchanged their securities in Old Lorus for
equivalent securities in the Company (the "Exchange") and the board of directors and
management of Old Lorus continued as the board of directors and management of the
Company.
In connection with the Arrangement, the Company received cash consideration of
approximately $8.5 million less an escrowed amount of $600 thousand related to the
indemnification (received in July 2008), before transaction costs. After completion of the
Arrangement, the Company is not related to Old Lorus, which was subsequently renamed
Global Summit Real Estate Inc.
Under the Arrangement, the Company and its subsidiaries agreed to indemnify Old Lorus
and its directors, officers and employees from and against all damages, losses, expenses
(including fines and penalties), other third party costs and legal expenses, to which any of
them may be subject arising out of various matters discussed in note 14.
As part of the Arrangement, the Company changed its name to Lorus Therapeutics Inc.
and continued as a biopharmaceutical company, specializing in the research and
development of pharmaceutical products and technologies for the management of cancer
as a continuation of the business of Old Lorus.
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LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

1.

Basis of presentation (continued):
The Arrangement has been accounted for on a continuity of interest basis and, accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements of the Company reflect the financial position, results
of operations and cash flows as if the Company has always carried on the business
formerly carried on by Old Lorus. Consequently, all comparative figures presented in these
consolidated financial statements include those of Old Lorus.
(c) Share consolidation:
In accordance the authority granted by shareholders at the Company's annual and special
meeting on November 30, 2009 to permit it to implement a consolidation of the Company's
outstanding common shares in a ratio of between 1-for-10 and 1-for-50 at any time prior to
November 30, 2010, the Company's Board of Directors approved a 1-for-30 share
consolidation which became effective May 25, 2010. The share consolidation affects all of
the Company's common shares, stock options and warrants outstanding at the effective
time. Fractional shares were not issued. Prior to consolidation the Company had
approximately 298 million shares outstanding. Following the share consolidation, the
Company has approximately 9.9 million common shares outstanding. Similarly, prior to
consolidation, the Company had approximately 20.2 million stock options and 36.9 million
warrants to purchase common shares outstanding. Following the share consolidation, the
Company had approximately 673 thousand stock options and 1.3 million warrants to
purchase common shares outstanding.
In these consolidated financial statements, all references to number of shares, stock
options and warrants in the current and past periods have been adjusted to reflect the
impact of the consolidation. All amounts based on the number of shares, stock options or
warrants, unless otherwise specified, such as earnings (loss) per share and weighted
average issuance price in the case of stock options have been adjusted to reflect the
impact of 1-for-30 share consolidation.
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LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

2.

Changes in accounting policies:
(a) Goodwill and intangible assets:
Effective June 1, 2009, the Company adopted The Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants' ("CICA") Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which
replaced Handbook Section 3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets ("Section 3062"),
and Section 3450, Research and Development Costs and establishes the standards for
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and intangible
assets. The adoption of this new standard did not have an impact on the Company's
consolidated financial statements.
(b) Financial instruments:
Effective June 1, 2009, the Company adopted the amendments under Handbook
Section 3862, Financial Instruments - Disclosures ("Section 3862"), to include additional
disclosure requirements about fair value measurement for financial instruments and
liquidity risk disclosures. These amendments require a three level hierarchy that reflects
the significance of the inputs used in making the fair value measurements. Fair value of
assets and liabilities included in Level 1 are determined by reference to quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities in Level 2 include
valuations using inputs other than the quoted prices for which all significant inputs are
based on observable market data, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 valuations are based
on inputs that are not based on observable market data. The adoption of the new standard
did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
(c) Credit risk and fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities:
Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted Emerging Issue Committee Abstract 173
("EIC 173"), Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
EIC 173 requires the Company to take into account the Company's own credit risk and the
credit risk of the counterparty in determining the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities, including derivative instruments. The adoption of the new standard did not have
a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

3.

Significant accounting policies:
(a) Principles of consolidation:
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its 80%
owned subsidiary, NuChem Pharmaceuticals Inc. ("NuChem"). On May 31, 2009, its
wholly owned subsidiary, GeneSense Technologies Inc. ("GeneSense") was wound up and
its operations and net assets assumed by Lorus Therapeutics, the parent company. On
June 19, 2009 the Company disposed of its shares of Pharma Immune Inc. ("Pharma
Immune") (note 13). The results of operations for acquisitions are included in these
consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. All significant intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance
with Canadian GAAP.
(b) Revenue recognition:
Revenue includes product sales, service, license and royalty revenue.
The Company recognizes revenue from product sales and provision of services when
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the Company's price
to the customer is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. The
Company allows customers to return product. Provisions for these returns are estimated
based on historical return and exchange levels, and third-party data with respect to
inventory levels in the Company's distribution channels.
Revenue from multiple element arrangements consisting of non-refundable license fees,
receipt of milestone payments, royalty and delivery of services over a defined term are
recognized in accordance with Emerging Issues Committee Abstract No. 142, Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables. The Company recognizes the non-refundable
license fee as revenue when the technology license is delivered, the fee is fixed or
determinable, collection of the amount was probable and there is no continuing
involvement or obligation to perform under the arrangement. Any milestone payment
subsequently received from the customer is recognized when the customer acknowledges
achievement of the milestone, when the fee is fixed or determinable and collection of the
amount is probable. If the multiple deliverables in an arrangement do not meet the criteria
for separation, the proceeds from the entire arrangement are deferred and recognized as
revenue on a proportionate performance basis, or over the term of the arrangement.

9

LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(c) Financial instruments:
Financial instrument classification:
Management determines the classification of financial assets and financial liabilities at
initial recognition and, except in very limited circumstances, the classification is not
changed subsequent to initial recognition. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial instruments were acquired, their characteristics and/or management's
intent. Transaction costs with respect to instruments not classified as held-for-trading are
recognized as an adjustment to the cost of the underlying instruments and amortized using
the effective interest method.
The Company's financial instruments were classified in the following categories:
(i) Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents are classified as held-for-trading investments and
measured at fair value. By virtue of the nature of these assets, fair value is generally
equal to cost plus accrued interest. Where applicable, any significant change in market
value would result in a gain or loss being recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income. As a result of adopting the new standards,
there was no material change in valuation of these assets.
The Company considers unrestricted cash on hand and in banks, term deposits and
guaranteed investment certificates with original maturities of three months or less as
cash and cash equivalents.
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LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(ii) Short-term investments:
Short-term investments are liquid Canadian government or corporate instruments
having original maturity dates greater than three months and less than one year and
are classified as held-to-maturity investments, except where the Company does not
intend to, or cannot reasonably expect to hold the investment to maturity in which case
the investment is designated as held-for-trading. Held-to-maturity investments are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, while held-fortrading investments are measured at fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.
Upon adoption of CICA Handbook Section 3855, Financial Instruments - Recognition
and Measurement ("Section 3855"), on June 1, 2007, the Company designated certain
corporate instruments then having maturities greater than one year previously carried
at amortized cost as held-for-trading investments. This change in accounting policy
resulted in a decrease in the carrying amount of these investments of $27 thousand
and a corresponding increase in the opening deficit at June 1, 2007. The Company
recognized a net unrealized gain in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income for the year ended May 31, 2010 of $8 thousand (2009 $10 thousand, 2008 - $7 thousand).
The Company invests in high-quality fixed income government and corporate
investments with low credit risk.
(iii) Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and promissory note payable are typically
short-term in nature and classified as other financial liabilities. These liabilities are
carried at amortized cost.
(iv) Secured convertible debentures:
The secured convertible debentures, prior to their repurchase in June 2009, were
classified as other financial liabilities and accounted for at amortized cost using the
effective interest method. The deferred financing charges related to the secured
convertible debentures for the periods presented were included as part of the carrying
value of the secured convertible debentures and were amortized using the effective
interest method.
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LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(v) Embedded derivatives:
Where applicable, the Company separates embedded derivatives from a related host
contract and measures those embedded derivatives at fair value. Subsequent
changes in fair value of embedded derivatives are recognized in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income in the period in which the change
occurs. In the periods, presented, the Company did not identify any embedded
derivatives that require separation from the related host contract.
(vi) Transaction costs:
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets
or liabilities are accounted for as part of the respective asset or liability's carrying value
at inception except for held-for-trading securities where the costs are expensed
immediately.
(vii) Fair value hierarchy:
All financial instruments are required to be measured at fair value on initial recognition,
except for certain related party transactions. Financial instruments are required to be
measured at fair value at each reporting. Financial instruments have been ranked
using a three-level hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making
the fair value measurements:


Level 1 - applies to assets or liabilities for which there are quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.



Level 2 - applies to assets or liabilities for which there are inputs other than quoted
prices that are observable for the asset or liability such as quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities
in markets with insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (less active markets);
or model-derived valuations in which significant inputs are observable or can be
derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data.
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LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):


Level 3 - applies to assets or liabilities for which there are unobservable inputs to
the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement of the fair value
of the assets or liabilities.

See note 15 for a breakdown of these financial instruments.
(d) Fixed assets:
Fixed assets are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. The
Company records depreciation and amortization at rates that charge operations with the
cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis as follows:

Furniture and equipment

Over 3 to 5 years

(e) Research and development:
Research costs are charged to expense as incurred. Development costs, including the
cost of drugs for use in clinical trials, are expensed as incurred unless they meet the criteria
under Canadian GAAP for deferral and amortization. No development costs have been
deferred to date.
(f) Goodwill:
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net identifiable
assets acquired in the GeneSense business combination. Goodwill acquired in a business
combination is tested for impairment on an annual basis and at any other time if an event
occurs or circumstances change that would indicate that impairment may exist. The
impairment test is carried out in two steps.
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LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
In the first step, the carrying amount of the reporting unit including goodwill is compared
with its fair value. When the fair value of a reporting unit including goodwill exceeds its
carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered to be impaired and the
second step of the impairment test is unnecessary.
The second step is carried out when the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, in which case the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill is compared with
its carrying amount to measure the amount of the impairment loss if any. The implied fair
value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as the value of goodwill is determined
in a business combination.
The Company has identified no impairment relating to goodwill for 2010, 2009 and 2008.
(g) Acquired patents and licenses:
Intangible assets with finite lives acquired in a business combination or other transaction
are amortized over their estimated useful lives.
The Company capitalized the cost of acquired patent and license assets on the
acquisitions of GeneSense and the NuChem compounds. The nature of this asset is such
that it was categorized as an intangible asset with a finite life. These assets have now
been fully amortized.
(h) Impairment of long-lived assets:
The Company reviews long-lived assets which include fixed assets and intangible assets
with finite useful lives for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. If
the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows expected to result from the use
and eventual disposition of an asset is less than its carrying amount, it is considered to be
impaired. An impairment loss is measured at the amount by which the carrying amount of
the asset exceeds its fair value, which is estimated as the expected future cash flows
discounted at a rate proportionate with the risks associated with the recovery of the asset.
The Company has identified no impairment relating to long-lived assets for 2010, 2009 and
2008.
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LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(i) Stock-based compensation:
The Company has a stock-based compensation plan (the "Plan") available to officers,
directors, employees and consultants with grants under the Plan approved by the
Company's Board of Directors. Under the Plan, the exercise price of each option equals
the closing trading price of the Company's stock on the day prior to the grant. Vesting is
provided for at the discretion of the Board of Directors and the expiration of options is to be
no greater than 10 years from the date of grant.
The Company uses the fair value based method of accounting for employee awards
granted under the Plan. The Company calculates the fair value of each stock option grant
using the Black Scholes Option Pricing model at the grant date. The stock-based
compensation cost of the options is recognized as stock-based compensation expense
over the relevant vesting period of the stock options. Actual forfeitures are accounted for
as they occur.
Stock options awarded to non-employees are accounted for using the fair value method
and expensed as the service or product is received. The Company calculates the fair
value of each stock option grant using the Black Scholes Option Pricing model at the grant
date. Consideration paid on the exercise of stock options and warrants is credited to
common shares.
The Company has a deferred share unit plan that provides directors the option of receiving
payment for their services in the form of share units rather than common shares or cash.
Share units entitle the director to elect to receive, on termination of his or her services with
the Company, an equivalent number of common shares, or the cash equivalent of the
market value of the common shares at that future date. For units issued under this plan,
the Company records an expense and a liability equal to the market value of the shares
issued. The accumulated liability is adjusted for market fluctuations on a quarterly basis.
There are currently no units issued under this plan.
The Company has an alternate compensation plan ("2009 ACP") that provides directors
and senior management ("participants") with the option of receiving director's fees, salary,
bonuses or other remuneration ("Remuneration") in common shares rather than cash.
Under the plan, the participant receives an allotment from treasury of such number of
shares as will be equivalent to the cash value of the Remuneration determined by dividing
the Remuneration by the weighted average closing common share price for the five trading
days prior to payment date (the "5-day VWAP"). The issue price of the shares is the 5-day
VWAP. There are currently no shares allotted for issuance under this plan.
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Years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(j) Investment tax credits:
The Company is entitled to Canadian federal and provincial investment tax credits, which
are earned as a percentage of eligible research and development expenditures incurred in
each taxation year. Investment tax credits are accounted for as a reduction of the related
expenditure for items of a current nature and a reduction of the related asset cost for items
of a long-term nature, provided that the Company has reasonable assurance that the tax
credits will be realized. Investment tax credits receivable at May 31, 2010 of $400
thousand are classified as prepaid expenses and other assets (2009 - $600 thousand).
(k) Income taxes:
Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Under this method,
future tax assets and liabilities are recorded for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases, and operating loss and research and development expenditure
carryforwards.
Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or
substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply when the asset is realized or the liability
is settled. The effect on future tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the year that enactment or substantive enactment occurs. A
valuation allowance is recorded if it is not more likely than not that some portion of or all of
a future tax asset will be realized.
(l) Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic earnings (loss) per common share is calculated by dividing the earnings (loss) for the
year by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share is calculated by dividing the loss for the year by
the sum of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and the dilutive
common equivalent shares outstanding during the year. Common equivalent shares
consist of the shares issuable upon exercise of stock options and warrants as applicable,
calculated using the treasury stock method. Common equivalent shares are not included in
the calculation of the weighted average number of shares outstanding for diluted loss per
common share when the effect would be anti-dilutive.
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(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended May 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(m) Segmented information:
The Company is organized and operates as one operating segment, the research and
development of anti-cancer therapies. Substantially all of the Company's identifiable
assets as at May 31, 2010 and 2009 are located in Canada.
(n) Foreign currency translation:
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian dollars at rates prevailing on
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars
at the rates in effect on the balance sheets dates. Gains or losses resulting from these
transactions are accounted for in the loss for the period and are not significant.
(o) Use of estimates:
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.
Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates include the historical
valuation of the convertible debentures, fair value of guarantees, fair value of the obligation
for indemnifications provided on the Arrangement between the Company and Old Lorus,
the fair value of long-lived assets and the determination of impairment thereon, the
economic lives of intangible assets, the recoverability of future income tax assets, the
determination of fair values of financial instruments, as well as the determination of stockbased compensation and the fair value of warrants issued.
(p) Recent Canadian accounting pronouncements not yet adopted:
The Canadian Accounting Standards Board ("AcSB") requires all Canadian publicly
accountable entities to adopt International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") for years
beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Company's first annual filing under IFRS will be
for the year ended May 31, 2012; its first quarterly filing under IFRS will be for the quarter
ending August 31, 2011 and will include IFRS comparative figures for the period ended
August 31, 2010. Accordingly, the Company's adoption date for IFRS is June 1, 2011, but
its transition date ("Transition Date") is June 1, 2010 in order to present IFRS comparative
figures in the Company's 2011 consolidated financial statements.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to Canadian GAAP, however, there are
significant differences in recognition, measurement and disclosure. Given the nature of
Lorus' business and the make-up of its current balance sheets, IFRS could have an impact
on its reported financial statements. The Company's implementation of IFRS will require
the Company to make and disclose certain policy choices and increase the amount of
disclosure necessary to fulfill its IFRS reporting obligations.
During 2009, a detailed project plan with expected milestones was established and
approved by senior management of the Company. There are three phases to the plan: a
diagnostic phase, a solution development phase and an implementation phase. The plan
involves an assessment of the impact of the move to IFRS on accounting and reporting
(including any Impact on the Company's internal controls over financial reporting,
disclosure controls and procedures, IT systems and processes, and the business
implications of this conversion). The Company has allocated resources and included in its
project plan training required for both the conversion team and all impacted employees of
the organization.
The Company has substantially completed the diagnostic phase and has begun the second
and third phases of its plan. During 2010, the Company continued to make progress on its
established milestones including analyzing its policy selections both on conversion and
post conversion as well as evaluating new financial statement disclosure requirements.
Moving forward, the Company expects to meet all milestones leading up to the conversion
in 2012. In 2011, the Company expects to finalize the elections under IFRS 1, publish new
policy choices and quantify the impact of the changes to the consolidated financial
statements in preparation for the 2012 conversion.
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4.

Short-term investments, marketable securities and other investments:

2010
Corporate investments
(guaranteed investment
certificates)

2009
Corporate investments
(guaranteed investment
certificates)

Less than
one year
maturities

$

247

Less than
one year
maturities

$

248

Greater than
one year
maturities

$

–

$

Greater than
one year
maturities

$

242

$

Total

Yield to
maturity

247

–

Total

Yield to
maturity

490

–

Certain corporate investments, totalling $247 thousand at May 31, 2010 (2009 - $490
thousand), have been designated as held-for-trading investments, and have been classified as
short-term investments on the consolidated balance sheets. These investments are carried at
fair value. The net increase in fair value for the year ended May 31, 2010 amounted to
$8 thousand (2009 - $10 thousand) and has been included in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income in interest income.
5.

Fixed assets:

2010
Furniture and equipment

19

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation
and
amortization

Net book
value

$ 2,907

$ 2,760

$ 147

LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
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5.

Fixed assets (continued):

2009
Furniture and equipment

6.

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation
and
amortization

$ 2,905

$ 2,674

Net book
value
$

231

Share capital:
(a) Continuity of common shares and warrants:
Common shares
Warrants
Number
Amount
Number
Amount
(in thousands)
(in thousands)
Balance, May 31, 2007
Interest payments (note 13)

7,076
179

$ 157,714
1,029

–
–

Balance, May 31, 2008
Interest payments (note 13)
Issuance of units (b)

7,7,255
354
951

158,743
707
2,790

–
–
571

–
–
417

Balance, May 31, 2009
Interest payments (note 13)
Issuance of units (b)

8,560
7
1,366

162,240
15
1,665

571
–
755

417
–
622

Balance, May 31, 2010

9,933

$ 163,920

1,326

$ 1,039

20

$

–
–

LORUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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6.

Share capital (continued):
(b) Share issuances:
On November 27, 2009, pursuant to a private placement, the Company issued
1.366 million common shares and 683 thousand common share purchase warrants in
exchange for cash consideration of $2.5 million. This amount includes the principal amount
of $1.0 million originally received by way of a loan from a director on October 6, 2009 which
was applied to subscribe for units of the Company ("Units") as part of the private
placement. In addition, the Company issued 72 thousand brokers' warrants to purchase an
equivalent number of common shares at $2.40 until May 27, 2011. The total costs
associated with the transaction were approximately $250 thousand which included the $77
thousand which represented the fair value of the brokers' warrants. The Company has
allocated the net proceeds of the private placement to the common shares and the
common share purchase warrants based on their relative fair values. Based on relative fair
values, $1.7 million of the net proceeds was allocated to the common shares and $545
thousand to the common share purchase warrants.
On June 25, 2008, the Company filed a short-form prospectus for a rights offering to its
shareholders. Under the rights offering, holders of the Company's common shares as of
July 9, 2008 (the "Record Date") received one right for each common share held as of the
Record Date. Each four rights entitled the holder thereof to purchase a Unit. Each Unit
consists of one common share of the Company at $3.90 and a one-half common share
purchase warrant to purchase additional common shares of the Company at $4.53 until
August 7, 2010. All unexercised rights expired on August 7, 2008. Pursuant to the rights
offering, the Company issued 951 thousand common shares and 571 thousand common
share purchase warrants in exchange for cash consideration of $3.7 million. The total
costs associated with the transaction were approximately $500 thousand. The Company
has allocated the net proceeds of $3.2 million received from the issuance of the Units to the
common shares and the common share purchase warrants based on their relative fair
values. The fair value of the common share purchase warrants has been determined
based on an option-pricing model. The resulting allocation based on relative fair values
resulted in the allocation of $2.8 million to the common shares and $417 thousand to the
common share purchase warrants.
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6.

Share capital (continued):
On July 10, 2007, as part of the Arrangement described in note 1(b), the Company
surrendered its original common share issued when the Company was incorporated,
("Original Share"), and exchanged all of the shares in Old Lorus for an equivalent number
of shares of the Company.
(c) Terminated U.S. financing:
In April 2010, the Company filed a Registration Statement on Form F-1 (the "Registration
Statement") with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") for
an offering of up to US$17.5 million of units in the United States.
In August 2010, subsequent to year end, the Company announced that due to
unfavourable market conditions the Registration Statement would be withdrawn and the
public financing would not proceed.
The Company incurred fees of approximately $569 thousand related to this filing which
have been included in general and administrative expenses for the year ended May 31,
2010 and an additional $200 thousand in fees incurred subsequent to year end which will
be paid in the year ended May 31, 2011.
(d) Contributed surplus:
2010

2009

Balance, beginning of year
Forfeiture of stock options
Equity portion of secured convertible
Debenture (note 13)

$ 10,744
317
3,814

–

Balance, end of year

$ 14,875

$ 10,744
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$

9,181
1,563

2008
$

8,525
656
–

$

9,181
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6.

Share capital (continued):
(e) Continuity of stock options:
2010

2009

2008

Balance, beginning of the year
Stock option expense
Forfeiture of stock options

$

3,845
176
(317)

$

4,961
446
(1,562)

$

4,898
719
(656)

Balance, end of year

$

3,704

$

3,845

$

4,961

(f) Alternate compensation plans:
The Company did not issue any share units under its deferred share unit plan or allot any
shares for issuance under its 2009 ACP.
(g) Employee share purchase plan:
The Company' has an employee share purchase plan ("ESPP"). The purpose of the ESPP
is to assist the Company in retaining the services of its employees, to secure and retain the
services of new employees and to provide incentives for such persons to exert maximum
efforts for the success of the Company. The ESPP provides a means by which employees
of the Company and its affiliates may purchase common shares of the Company at a
discount through accumulated payroll deductions with each offering having a three month
duration. Participants may authorize payroll deductions of up to 15% of their base
compensation for the purchase of common shares under the ESPP. For the year ended
May 31, 2010, 3,159 (2009 - 7,966; 2008 - 9,400) common shares have been purchased
under the ESPP, and the Company has recognized an expense of $2 thousand (2009 $3 thousand; 2008 - $10 thousand) related to this plan in these consolidated financial
statements.
(h) Earnings/loss per share:
For the year ended May 31, 2010, the determination of diluted earnings per share includes
in the calculation all common shares potentially issuable upon the exercise of stock options
and share purchase warrants, using the treasury stock method.
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6.

Share capital (continued):
Diluted earnings per share, using the treasury stock method, assumes outstanding stock
options and share purchase warrants are exercised at the beginning of the period, and the
Company's common shares are purchased at the average market price during the period
from the funds derived on the exercise of these outstanding options and share purchase
warrants. Stock options and share purchase warrants with a strike price above the
average market price for the period were excluded from the calculation of fully diluted
earnings per share as to include them would have increased the earnings per share.

7.

Stock-based compensation:
Stock option plan:
Under the Company's stock option plan, options may be granted to directors, officers,
employees and consultants of the Company to purchase up to a maximum of 15% of the total
number of outstanding common shares, currently estimated at 1,490,000 options. Options are
granted at the fair market value of the common shares on the date immediately preceding the
date of the grant. Options vest at various rates (immediate to three years) and have a term of
10 years. Stock option transactions for the three years ended May 31, 2010 are summarized
as follows:
2010
Weighted
average
exercise
Options
price
Outstanding,
beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

562,358
189,406
–
(78,863)

Outstanding,
end of year

672,901

Exercisable,
end of year

439,452

$

$

2009
Weighted
average
exercise
Options
price

Options
432,830
201,637
–
(86,593)

Weighted
average
exercise
price

8.66
2.41
–
11.24

547,874
170,807
–
(156,323)

6.60

562,358

8.66

547,874

13.52

8.54

323,555

$ 11.39

341,296

$ 14.91
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$ 13.52
3.39
–
19.94

2008

$ 17.69
6.26
–
17.44
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7.

Stock-based compensation (continued):
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at May 31, 2010:

Range of
exercise prices

Options outstanding
Weighted
average
Weighted
remaining
average
contractual
exercise
Options
life (years)
price

$ 2.10 - $ 7.49
$ 7.50 - $14.99
$15.00 - $29.99
$30.00 - $75.00

484,152
146,955
28,852
12,942

8.31
5.39
3.88
2.08

672,901

7.36

$

Options exercisable

Options

3.81
8.88
24.62
44.38

250,703
146,955
28,852
12,942

6.60

439,452

Weighted
average
exercise
price
$

4.64
8.88
24.62
44.38
8.54

For the year ended May 31, 2010, stock option expense comprised $83 thousand (2009 $127 thousand; 2008 - $171 thousand) related to research and development and $93 thousand
(2009 - $319 thousand; 2008 - $548 thousand) related to general and administrative.
The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine
the fair value of stock options granted during the year:
2010

2009

2008

Risk-free interest rate
2.44% - 2.60%%
Expected volatility
82% - 124%%
Expected dividend yield
–
Expected life of options
5 years
Weighted average fair value of options
granted or modified during the year
$1.43

2.00% - 3.50%
76%
–
5 years

3.75% - 4.70%
77% - 80%
–
5 years

$2.16

$4.05

The Company has assumed no forfeiture rate as adjustments for actual forfeitures are made in
the year they occur.
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8.

Capital risk management:
The Company's objectives when managing capital are to:
(a) maintain its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns to
shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders;
(b) maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital at acceptable risk;
and
(c) ensure sufficient cash resources to fund its research and development activity, to pursue
partnership and collaboration opportunities and to maintain ongoing operations.
At May 31, 2010, the capital structure of the Company consisted of equity comprised of share
capital, warrants, stock options, contributed surplus and deficit. The Company manages its
capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of economic conditions. The Company,
upon approval from its Board of Directors, will balance its overall capital structure through new
share issuances, acquiring or disposing of assets, adjusting the amount of cash and short-term
investments balances or by undertaking other activities as deemed appropriate under the
specific circumstances. The Company has forecasted that its current capital resources will not
be sufficient to carry its research and development plans and operations for the next twelve
months (note 1(a)) without additional financing.
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and the Company's
overall strategy with respect to capital risk management remains unchanged from the year
ended May 31, 2009.
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9.

Financial instruments and risk management:
(a) Financial instruments:
The Company has classified its financial instruments as follows:

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents, consisting of
term deposits and guaranteed investment
certificates at fair value
Short-term investments, held-for-trading,
recorded at fair value
Financial liabilities:
Accounts payable, measured at amortized cost
Accrued liabilities, measured at amortized cost
Secured convertible debentures,
measured at amortized cost
Promissory note payable, measured at amortized cost

$

2010

2009

667

$ 5,374

247

490

387
1,458

299
1,131

–
1,000

14,448
–

(b) Financial risk management:
The Company has exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The Company's
Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the oversight of these risks and reviews
the Company's policies on an ongoing basis to ensure that these risks are appropriately
managed.
(i) Credit risk:
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer, partner or
counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and
arises principally from the Company's cash and cash equivalents and short-term
investments. The carrying amount of the financial assets represents the maximum
credit exposure.
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9.

Financial instruments and risk management (continued):
The Company manages credit risk for its cash and cash equivalents and short-term
investments by maintaining minimum standards of R1 low or A low investments and the
Company invests only in highly rated Canadian corporations with debt securities that
are traded on active markets and are capable of prompt liquidation.
(ii) Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they come due. To the extent that the Company does not believe it has
sufficient liquidity to meet its current obligations, the Board considers securing
additional funds through equity, debt or partnering transactions. The Company
manages its liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecasts and actual cash flows.
Refer to note 1(a) for further discussion on the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern.
(iii) Market risk:
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign
exchange rates and equity prices will affect the Company's income or the value of its
financial instruments.
The Company is subject to interest rate risk on its cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments. The Company does not believe that the results of operations
or cash flows would be affected to any significant degree by a sudden change in
market interest rates relative to interest rates on the investments, owing to the relative
short-term nature of the investments. The Company does not have any material
interest bearing liabilities subject to interest rate fluctuations.
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9.

Financial instruments and risk management (continued):
Financial instruments potentially exposing the Company to foreign exchange risk
consist principally of accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The Company holds
minimal amounts of U.S. dollar denominated cash, purchasing on an as needed basis
to cover U.S. dollar denominated payments. At May 31, 2010, U.S. dollar denominated
accounts payable and accrued liabilities amounted to $270 thousand (2009 - $70
thousand). Assuming all other variables remain constant, a 10% depreciation or
appreciation of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar would result in an increase
or decrease in loss for the year and comprehensive loss of $27 thousand (2009 - $7
thousand). The Company does not have any forward exchange contracts to hedge this
risk.
The Company does not invest in equity instruments of other corporations.

10.

Income taxes:
Income tax recoveries attributable to losses from operations differ from the amounts computed
by applying the combined Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates to pre-tax income
from operations primarily as a result of the provision of a valuation allowance on net future
income tax benefits.
Significant components of the Company's future tax assets are as follows:
2010
Non-capital loss carryforwards
Capital loss carryforwards
Research and development expenditures
Book over tax depreciation
Intangible asset
Ontario harmonization tax credit
Other

$

Future tax assets
Valuation allowance
$

29

2,197
–
4,237
529
3,115
347
172

2009
$

3,099
218
4,518
749
3,386
179
–

10,597

12,149

(10,597)

(12,149)

–

$

–
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10.

Income taxes (continued):
During the year ended May 31, 2010, the Company reached a settlement with the convertible
debenture holders (note 13) which resulted in an accounting gain of $11.0 million. For tax
purposes this transaction resulted in a taxable capital gain of $5.7 million. There are no taxes
payable on this gain as the Company has sufficient capital and non-capital losses to offset the
gain.
During the year ended May 31, 2008, under the Arrangement, numerous steps were
undertaken as part of a taxable reorganization. However, these steps did not result in any
taxes payable as the tax benefit of income tax attributes was applied to eliminate any taxes
otherwise payable. Of the total unrecognized future tax assets available at the time of the
Arrangement, approximately $7.0 million was transferred to the Company and the balance
remained with Old Lorus and is subject to the indemnification agreement (note 1(b)). Those tax
attributes remaining with Old Lorus are no longer available to the Company.
In assessing the realizable benefit from future tax assets, management considers whether it is
more likely than not that some portion or all of the future tax assets will not be realized. The
ultimate realization of future tax assets is dependent on the generation of future taxable income
during the years in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management
considers projected future taxable income, uncertainties related to the industry in which the
Company operates and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Due to the
Company's stage of development and operations, and uncertainties related to the industry in
which the Company operates, the tax benefit of the above amounts has been completely offset
by a valuation allowance.
The Company has undeducted research and development expenditures, totalling $16.9 million
that can be carried forward indefinitely. In addition, the Company has non-capital loss
carryforwards of $8.8 million. To the extent that the non-capital loss carryforwards are not
used, they expire as follows:

2015
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030

$

10
11
4
4,359
4,387
16

$ 8,787
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10.

Income taxes (continued):
Income tax rate reconciliation:
2010
Income tax expense (recovery)
based on statutory rate of 32.6%
(2009 - 33.3%, 2008 - 35.0%)
Expiry of losses
Change in valuation allowance
Non deductible accretion, stock-based
compensation and capital gains
Ontario harmonization tax credit
Change in substantively enacted tax rates
Adjustment of prior year research and
development expenditures
Other

$

$

11.

1,738
46
(1,552)

2009

$

(2,950)
247
3,068

(1,694)
–
1,643

582
(260)
299

–
(181)

(856)
(130)

–

$

–

2008

$

(2,217)
127
2,048
(1,880)
–
1,585
–
337

$

–

Research and development programs:
The Company has product candidates in three classes of anticancer therapies:
●

RNA-targeted (antisense and siRNA) therapies, based on synthetic segments of DNA or
RNA designed to bind to the messenger RNA that is responsible for the production of
proteins over-expressed in cancer cells;

●

small molecule therapies based on anti-angiogenic, anti-proliferative and anti-metastatic
agents; and

●

immunotherapy, based on macrophage-stimulating biological response modifiers.
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11.

Research and development programs (continued):
(a) RNA-Targeted Therapies:
The Company's RNA-targeted drug candidates include LOR-2040 and LOR-1284. The
Company has reported Phase II clinical results, completed to the end-of-stage assessment
time point, of LOR-2040 in combination with cytarabine in relapsed and refractory acute
myeloid leukemia ("AML") patient population. Based on these data, the Company is
proceeding with protocol development for the expanded development program. LOR-1284
is in pre-clinical stage of development.
(b) Small Molecule Program:
The Company has small molecule drug screening technologies and preclinical scientific
expertise, which it is using to create a drug candidate pipeline. The Company's proprietary
group of small molecule compounds includes lead drug LOR-253.
(c) Immunotherapy:
The Company's immunotherapy product candidates are Virulizin® and Interleukin-17E
("IL-17E"). In June 2009, as part of the consideration for our repurchase of the secured
convertible debentures from The Erin Mills Investment Corporation ("TEMIC"), the
Company assigned to TEMIC its rights under the license agreement with Zor
Pharmaceuticals, LLC ("ZOR"), and sold to TEMIC its intellectual property rights associated
with Virulizin®. In return, the Company will be entitled to 50% of the deal value of any
transaction completed in ZOR and non-ZOR territories. IL-17E is a protein-based
therapeutic that the Company is developing as an immunotherapy for cancer treatment.
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11.

Research and development programs (continued):

2010
RNA-Targeted Therapies:
Expensed
Acquired
Small molecules:
Expensed
Acquired
Immunotherapy:
Expensed

$

Years ended May 31,
2009

945
–

$

1,123
–

2008
$

3,291
–

Period from
inception on
September 5,
1986 to
May 31,
2010
$

36,904
11,000

1,572
–

2,634
–

2,821
–

14,413
1,228

–

–

148

75,197
$ 126,514

Total expensed

$ 2,517

$

3,757

$

6,260

Total acquired

$

$

–

$

–

–

$

12,228

Amortization of the acquired patents and licenses is included in the expensed line of the
table.
12.

Supplemental cash flow and other information:
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash
Term deposits and guaranteed investment certificates
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2010

2009

$

667
–

$ 2,676
2,698

$

667

$ 5,374
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12.

Supplemental cash flow and other information (continued):
Change in non-cash operating working capital is summarized as follows:

2010
Prepaid expenses and
other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Promissory note payable

$

Years ended May 31,
2009

2008

Period from
inception on
September 5,
1986 to
May 31,
2010

190
88
377
1,000

$

(105)
(624)
(213)
–

$

(386)
(181)
(227)
–

$

(60)
(857)
1,118
1,000

$ 1,655

$

(942)

$

(794)

$ 1,201

During the year ended May 31, 2010, the Company received interest of $139 thousand (2009 $367 thousand; 2008 - $519 thousand).
During the year ended May 31, 2010, the Company paid $27 thousand (2009 - nil; 2008 - nil) in
cash interest related to the convertible debentures settled on June 22, 2009.
During the year ended May 31, 2010, the Company paid nil (2009 - nil; 2008 - nil) in income
taxes and received nil (2009 - nil; 2008 - nil) in income taxes.
13.

Convertible debentures:
On October 6, 2004, the Company entered into a Subscription Agreement (the "Agreement") to
issue an aggregate of $15.0 million of secured convertible debentures (the "debentures") to
TEMIC (the "debenture holder"). The debentures were secured by a first charge over all of the
assets of the Company.
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13.

Convertible debentures (continued):
The Company received three tranches of $5.0 million on each of October 6, 2004, January 14
and April 15, 2005. All debentures issued under the Agreement were due on October 6, 2009
and subject to interest payable monthly at a rate of prime plus 1%. Interest was payable in
common shares of the Company. Common shares issued in payment of interest were issued
at a price equal to the weighted average trading price of such shares for the 10 trading days
immediately preceding their issue in respect of each interest payment. For the year ended
May 31, 2010, the Company issued 7,000 (2009 - 354,000; 2008 - 179,433) shares in
settlement of approximately $15 thousand (2009 - $707 thousand; 2008 - $1.0 million) in
interest. In addition the Company paid $12 thousand of interest expense in cash.
With the issuance of each $5.0 million debenture, the Company issued to the debenture holder
from escrow 33,333 purchase warrants expiring October 6, 2009 to buy common shares of the
Company at a price per share equal to $30.00. In July 2007, the 100,000 common share
purchase warrants were repurchased in connection with the Arrangement (note 1(b)).
The debentures contained both a liability and an equity element, represented by the conversion
option and, therefore, under Canadian GAAP, these two elements were split and classified
separately as debt and equity. In addition, as noted above, the debenture holder received
33,333 purchase warrants on the issuance of each tranche of convertible debt (warrants were
repurchased in July 2007). The Company allocated the total proceeds received from the
issuance of the debentures to these three elements based on their relative fair values. The fair
value of the purchase warrants was determined based on an option pricing model. The fair
value of the debt was based on the discounted cash flows using an estimated cost of borrowing
of 15% to represent an estimate of what the Company may have borrowed as secured debt
without a conversion option or purchase warrant. The debentures conversion option was
valued using a trinomial model. The resulting allocation based on relative fair values resulted
in the allocation of $9.8 million to the debt instrument, $4.1 million to the conversion option and
$1.1 million to the purchase warrants. The financing fees totalling $1.1 million related to the
issuance of the convertible debentures were allocated pro rata between deferred financing
charges of $652 thousand, against the equity portion of the convertible debentures of $322
thousand and against the purchase warrants of $87 thousand. This allocation resulted in net
amounts allocated to the equity portion of the debentures and warrants of $3.8 million and $991
thousand, respectively.
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13.

Convertible debentures (continued):
Prior to the adoption of Section 3855 on June 1, 2007, deferred financing costs were amortized
over the five-year life of the Agreement. As a consequence of the adoption of Section 3855,
deferred financing costs at June 1, 2007 were reclassified and reduced the carrying value of
the debentures. Deferred financing costs were recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations as accretion expense.
Each reporting period, the Company was required to accrete the carrying value of the
convertible debentures such that at maturity on October 6, 2009, the carrying value of the
debentures will be their face value of $15.0 million. For the year ended May 31, 2010, the
Company has recognized $80 thousand (2009 - $1.7 million; 2008 - $1.2 million) in accretion
expense.
On June 22, 2009, the Company reached a settlement with TEMIC with respect to the
purchase and settlement of the $15.0 million secured convertible debentures.
Under the Agreement, the Company purchased all of the convertible debentures from TEMIC
for consideration that included a cash payment on close of the transaction of $3.3 million, the
assignment of the rights under the license agreement with ZOR certain intellectual property
associated with Virulizin® and all of the Company's shares in its wholly owned subsidiary,
Pharma Immune, which held an equity interest in ZOR (the "Consideration"). Under the
agreement, the Company is entitled to 50% of any royalties received under the ZOR license
agreement and 50% of the value of any transaction completed in territories not covered by the
ZOR license agreement. The Company also retains a perpetual royalty free license for the
animal use of Virulizin®. TEMIC will be fully responsible for all clinical and regulatory costs
associated with the commercialization of Virulizin® in territories not covered by the ZOR license
agreement. The Company will assist TEMIC with certain agreed upon services.
For receipt of the Consideration, TEMIC has released all security interest in the assets of the
Company.
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13.

Convertible debentures (continued):
As a result of the transaction, the Company recognized a gain on the repurchase of the
debentures of $11.0 million reflecting the difference between the fair value of the debentures at
the repurchase date, net of transaction costs of approximately $221 thousand, and the cash
payment amount of $3.3 million. In addition, as a result of extinguishing the debentures in the
amount of $3.8 million, the equity portion of the debentures, was transferred to contribute
surplus. The gain on repurchase of the debentures did not result in income taxes payable as
the Company has sufficient capital loss and non-capital loss carryforwards to shelter these
gains. Capital loss and non-capital loss carryforwards, and the associated valuation allowance
have been reduced accordingly.

14.

Contingencies, commitments and guarantees:
(a) Operating lease commitments:
The Company has entered into operating leases for premises and equipment under which
it is obligated to make minimum annual payments of approximately $129 thousand in 2011,
$9 thousand in 2012. The Company's current facility lease expires in March 2011.
During the year ended May 31, 2010, operating lease expenses were $146 thousand
(2009 - $143 thousand; 2008 - $140 thousand).
(b) Other contractual commitments:
In December 1997, the Company acquired certain patent rights and a sub-license to
develop and commercialize the anticancer application of certain compounds in exchange
for a 20% share interest in NuChem; a payment of US$350 thousand in shares of the
Company; and up to US$3.5 million in cash.
To date, the Company has made cash payments of US$500 thousand. The remaining
balance of up to US$3.0 million remains payable upon the achievement of certain
milestones based on the commencement and completion of clinical trials. Additional
amounts paid will be classified as acquired patents and licenses and will be amortized over
the estimated useful life of the licensed asset.
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14.

Contingencies, commitments and guarantees (continued):
The Company did not meet any of these milestones during the current year and does not
currently expect to achieve any of the above milestones in fiscal years ended May 31, 2011
or 2012 and cannot reasonably predict when such milestones will be achieved, if at all.
The Company holds an exclusive world-wide license from the University of Manitoba
(the "University") and Cancer Care Manitoba ("CCM") to certain patent rights to develop
and sub-license certain oligonucleotide technologies. In consideration for the exclusive
license of the patent rights, the University and CCM are entitled to an aggregate of 1.67%
of the net sales received by the Company from the sale of products or processes derived
from the patent rights and 1.67% of all monies received by the Company from sub-licenses
of the patent rights. Any and all improvements to any of the patent rights derived in whole
or in part by the Company after the date of the license agreement, being June 20, 1997,
are not included within the scope of the agreement and do not trigger any payment of
royalties.
The Company has not yet earned any revenue from the products covered under this
agreement and, therefore, has not paid any royalties thereunder and cannot reasonably
predict the timing and amount of any future payment. The Company does not expect to
make any royalty payments under this agreement in fiscal years ended May 31, 2011 or
2012, and cannot reasonably predict when such royalties will become payable, if at all.
(c) Guarantees:
The Company entered into various contracts, whereby contractors perform certain services
for the Company. The Company indemnifies the contractors against costs, charges and
expenses in respect of legal actions or proceedings against the contractors in their capacity
of servicing the Company. The maximum amounts payable from these guarantees cannot
be reasonably estimated. Historically, the Company has not made significant payments
related to these guarantees.
The Company indemnifies its directors and officers against any and all claims or losses
reasonably incurred in the performance of their service to the Company to the extent
permitted by law. The Company has acquired and maintains liability insurance for its
directors and officers. The fair value of this indemnification is not determinable.
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14.

Contingencies, commitments and guarantees (continued):
(d) Indemnification on Arrangement:
Under the Arrangement (note 1(b)), the Company has agreed to indemnify Old Lorus and
its directors, officers and employees from and against all damages, losses, expenses
(including fines and penalties), other third party costs and legal expenses, to which any of
them may be subject arising out of any matter occurring:
(i) prior to, at or after the effective time of the Arrangement ("Effective Time") and directly
or indirectly relating to any of the assets of Old Lorus transferred to the Company
pursuant to the Arrangement (including losses for income, sales, excise and other
taxes arising in connection with the transfer of any such asset) or conduct of the
business prior to the Effective Time;
(ii) prior to, at or after the Effective Time as a result of any and all interests, rights,
liabilities and other matters relating to the assets transferred by Old Lorus to the
Company pursuant to the Arrangement; and
(iii) prior to or at the Effective Time and directly or indirectly relating to, with certain
exceptions, any of the activities of Old Lorus or the Arrangement.
Subsequent to the release of the escrowed amount of $600 thousand in July 2008, the
Company recorded a liability of $150 thousand, which it believes to be a reasonable
estimate of the fair value of the obligation for the indemnifications provided at that time.
This liability was reduced to $100 thousand in the current year resulting in a gain on sale of
$50 thousand in the year ended May 31, 2010 (2009 - $450 thousand). The reduction in
liability is the result of the passage of time and related reduction in risk associated with
claims under the liability as there have been no claims under this indemnification to date.
This amount is included on the consolidated balance sheets in accrued liabilities as at
May 31, 2010.
(e) Financing fees:
The Company has incurred approximately $200 thousand in fees subsequent to year end
related to the financing in note 6(c) which will be paid despite the termination of the
financing.
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14.

Contingencies, commitments and guarantees (continued):
(f) Regulatory matter:
On October 31, 2008, the Company voluntarily delisted its common shares from trading on
the NYSE Alternext US LLC (formerly the American Stock Exchange or AMEX). The
Company was eligible to apply for deregistration from the Security Exchange Commission
one year after delisting from the NYSE Alternext US LLC.

15.

Financial instruments:
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market information
and information about the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and
involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and, therefore, cannot be determined
with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.
Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, other assets, accounts payable, accrued
liabilities and promissory note payable:
Due to the short period to maturity of the financial instruments, the carrying values as
presented in the consolidated balance sheets are reasonable estimates of fair value.
Financial instruments potentially exposing the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist
principally of cash equivalents and short-term investments. The Company mitigates this risk by
investing in high grade fixed income securities.
Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of May 31, 2010 and May 31, 2009 were
as follows:
2010
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments,
consisting of guaranteed
investment certificates

Level 1
$

667

Level 2
$

247
$

914

40

–

Level 3
$

–
$

–

–

Total
$

–
$

–

667
247

$

914
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15.

Financial instruments (continued):
2009
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments,
consisting of guaranteed
investment certificates

Level 1
$ 5,374

$

490
$ 5,864

16.

Level 2
–

$

–
$

–

$

Level 3

Total

–

$ 5,374

–

490

–

$ 5,864

License agreement:
Effective April 8, 2008, the Company entered into a non-exclusive multinational license
agreement with ZOR, formed as a subsidiary of Zoticon Bioventures Inc., to further develop
and commercialize Virulizin® for human therapeutic applications.
Under the terms of the agreement, the Company received an upfront licensing fee of
$100 thousand, was eligible to receive certain milestone payments totalling approximately
US$10 million based on progress through financing and clinical development, and royalties on
net sales that vary from 10% to 20% depending on the level of sales of Virulizin® achieved in
those territories covered by the license and subject to certain other adjustments. ZOR will
assume all future costs for the development of the licensed technology. In 2009, the Company
received an additional payment of $178 thousand (US$150 thousand).
As described in note 13, on June 22, 2009, this license agreement was assigned to TEMIC as
part of the Consideration for the repayment of the convertible debentures.
The Company also entered into a service agreement with ZOR to assist in the transfer of
knowledge. Under this agreement, the Company agreed to provide ZOR with 300 hours of
consulting service during a period of 18 months (the agreement expired in October 2009).
The initial fee of $100 thousand and a milestone payment of $178 thousand
(US$150 thousand) were deferred under this arrangement and revenue was recognized based
on the measure of progress toward completion of the technical support services under this
contract based on the actual hours provided relative to the total number of hours required to be
provided, applied to the total of these initial fee and non-contingent contractual payments
related to the support services. At any time, the amount of cumulative revenue recognized
would not exceed the cumulative amount of non-refundable payments received under the
arrangement. All of the revenue received under this agreement has now been recognized.
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16.

License agreement (continued):
In addition, the Company acquired an equity interest in ZOR in exchange for a capital
contribution of $2,500. As described in note 13, on June 22, 2009, as part of the agreement to
repurchase the convertible debentures, the Company disposed of its interest in ZOR and
assigned the licence agreement to TEMIC.

17.

Related party transactions:
In October 2009, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a member of its Board of
Directors to borrow $1 million. The loan amount, which was received on October 6, 2009, was
unsecured, evidenced by a promissory note and bears interest at the annual rate of 10%. The
principal and interest were due in six months. The principal amount of $1.0 million was applied
to subscribe for Units as part of the November 27, 2009 private placement.
In April 2010, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a company related to the same
member as above of its Board of Directors to borrow $1 million. The loan amount, which was
received on April 14, 2010, is unsecured, evidenced by a promissory note and bears interest at
the annual rate of 10%. The principal and interest amount are due in six months. The funds
will be used for general working capital purposes.
During the year ended May 31, 2010, the Company expensed consulting fees of nil to a
director of the Company (2009 - $25 thousand; 2008 - $31 thousand). There was no amount
payable at May 31, 2010 (2009 - nil; 2008 - $30 thousand).
This transaction was in the normal course of business and has been measured at the
exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the
related parties.
See also note 18 for additional related party transactions.
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18.

Subsequent events:
On August 27, 2010, subsequent to the year end, due to unfavourable market conditions, the
Company withdrew a previously announced equity issue and is proposing a shareholders'
rights issue with a financing commitment for an investment of $4 million by one of the
Company's directors, Mr. Herbert Abramson by way of standby purchase arrangements for the
proposed rights offering such that the minimum gross proceeds of the proposed rights offering
are $4 million. The Company expects the proposed investment to be made by October 31,
2010. Mr. Abramson is also providing the Company with interim financing by way of three
$500 thousand monthly loans, the first of which was advanced on August 11, 2010. The loans
are unsecured, have a six-month term (or the earlier of the closing of the rights issue) and bear
interest at the annual rate of 10%. In addition, the loan due in October 2010 has been
extended for an additional three months.
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